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False Claims Invo lving Com p l i a n ce
with Environmental Laws/
Constitutionality of FCA

U.S. ex rel. Fallon et al. v. Accudyne
Corp. and Alliant Techsystems, Inc.,
Memorandum and Order, No. 93-C-
801-S (W.D.Wisc. June 19, 1995)

Environmental compliance provisions in
government contracts may give rise to a
False Claims Act (FCA) violation if the con-
tractor knowingly fails to meet such
requirements, according to a Wisconsin dis-
trict court. The FCA may be violated in
such cases even if the contractor has made
no express false statement regarding its
compliance and the noncompliance does
not pose any risk of monetary damage to
the Government.

This case was brought by a group of qui tam plain-
tiffs that included employees of Accudyne Corp.
and a nonprofit environmental foundation. The
plaintiffs asserted two independent claims relating
to contracts between Accudyne Corp. and the U.S.
for the production of military hardware: (1) that
Acc u dyne knowi n gly su pp l i ed non con form i n g
parts and failed to properly test completed prod-
ucts (Claim I) and (2) that Accudyne knowingly
failed to comply with environmental compliance
provisions contained in its contracts (Claim II).
Acc u dy n e’s con tracts con t a i n ed va rious cl a u s e s
relating to the handling and disposal of hazardous
material and compliance with Clean Air Act and
Clean Water Act standards. The Government elect-
ed to intervene and proceed with Claim I but
declined to intervene as to Claim II, which the rela-
tors chose to pursue independently. In denying
(and granting in part) a number of dispositive
motions filed by all parties in the case, the court
addressed a variety of issues including the effect of
a ll eged non com p l i a n ce with envi ron m en t a l

requirements, the constitutionality of qui tam, and
application of the FCA’s public disclosure bar.

Accudyne’s Alleged Noncompliance with
Environmental Requirements

The district court rejected both relators’ and defen-
dants’ summary judgment motions regarding the
allegation that Accudyne violated the FCA by fail-
ing to comply with certain environmental require-
ments in its contracts. The court found that the
contractual provisions speak for themselves, and
that whether Accudyne acted in violation of those
provisions involved facts in dispute.

Addressing the scope of Accudyne’s certifications
or representations of compliance, the court noted
that an express false statement is not required in
order to find liability under §3729(a)(1) of the
FCA. As such, the court concluded that “a contrac-
tor who knowingly fails to perform a material
requirement of its contract (or performs no ser-
vices at all), yet seeks or receives payment as if it
had fully performed without disclosing the non-
performance,has presented a false claim to the gov-
ernment and may be liable [under  §3729(a)(1)].”
In denying defendants’ motion,the court ruled that
the rel a tors properly stated a claim under
§3729(a)(1) by alleging that Accudyne knowingly
failed to comply with the environmental provisions
yet sought payment from the Government without
disclosing its noncompliance.

The district court also rejected the defendants’
a r g u m ent that Claim II was not su pport a bl e
because the U.S. was not exposed to any financial
risk as a result of Accudyne’s alleged failure to com-
ply with the environmental compliance provisions.
The court stated: “If such provisions are to have
effect their knowing violation must have the poten-
tial to support FCA claims even though violations
do not threaten a financial interest. Accordingly,
courts have consistently held that damage to the
financial interests of the government is not a pre-
requisite to an FCA claim.”
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The court also denied the relators’ motion for sum-
mary judgment on Claim II, noting that both
wh et h er Acc u dyne bre ach ed the envi ron m en t a l
requirements and its knowledge of any such breach
were facts in dispute.

Constitutionality of Act Upheld

Defendants moved to dismiss Claim II on the
grounds that the qui tam provisions are unconsti-
tutional. Noting that the 2nd,6th,and 9th Circuits,
a l ong with nu m erous distri ct co u rt s , “h ave
resoundingly rejected” similar constitutional chal-
lenges,the district court proceeded to reject each of
the defendants’ arguments.

Defendants argued that the relators lacked standing
because the controversy was between the U.S. and
the defendants and the relators had not suffered
injury in fact. The court disagreed, finding that
standing was not at issue since the real party in
interest was the U.S., which simply assigned its
right to sue to the relators. Further, since relators
were advancing their own funds in prosecution of
the suit and were entitled to receive a share of any
recovery, there was “a direct and adversarial contro-
versy” between relators and defendants.

Defendants also argued that qui tam violates sepa-
ration of powers principles and, more specifically,
the Appointments Clause of Article II and the pro-
vi s i on of Arti cle II, §3 commanding that the
President “shall take care that the laws be faithfully
executed.” With respect to both provisions, the
court found that, given the substantial control the
Government retains over a relator’s action, execu-
tive power is not improperly usurped and relators
a re not ve s ted with su f f i c i ent aut h ori ty to be
deemed “officers of the United States.”

F i n a lly, c i ting a case wh i ch held that priva te attor-
n eys appoi n ted to be criminal pro s ec utors must be
pers on a lly disintere s ted , defendants cl a i m ed that
the due process clause is vi o l a ted by perm i t ting pri-
va te citi zens with an interest in the outcome of t h e
proceeding to pro s ec ute claims on beh a l f of the U. S .
The co u rt rej ected this argumen t , n o ting that the
c i ted aut h ori ty invo lved criminal (not civil) pro s e-
c uti ons and did not su ggest that appoi n ting a pro s-
ec utor with an interest in the liti ga ti on’s outcom e
rose to the level of a due process vi o l a ti on .

Public Disclosure Bar Does Not Apply

The court also rejected the defendants’ argument
that the §3730(e)(4) jurisdictional bar applied to
Claim II. First, while certain facts were publicly
disclosed within the meaning of the Act (e.g., that
Accudyne had entered into the contracts at issue
and that a lead fluoroborate spill had occurred at
an Accudyne facility), others cited by the defen-
dants were not.

Specifically, the court found that neither (1) notices
of deficiencies and noncompliance which were sent
to Acc u dyne by the Wi s consin Dep a rtm ent of
Natural Resources (DNR), nor (2) a DNR investi-
gation which had been prompted by complaints
from relator John Fallon, qualified as publicly dis-
closed information under §3730(e)(4). Observing
that the noncompliance notices were not received,
viewed, or disclosed by or to anyone other than
Accudyne, the court stated that the mere creation
of such a document by a state agency is not a pub-
lic disclosure under the FCA. The court refused to
ex tend the def i n i ti on of p u blic discl o su re to
include “documents which, though theoretically
accessible by a member of the public through an
appropriate administrative request for documents,
were never the subject of publication or notifica-
tion by the agency.” Moreover, the DNR investiga-
tion was “even more clearly” outside of “the realm
of publicly disclosed information.” The investiga-
tion was not completed and documents containing
the allegations in the complaint were not created
prior to Fallon’s filing of the suit.

With respect to the information that was publicly
disclosed, the court necessarily addressed “whether
that disclosure amounts to ‘allegations or transac-
tions’ upon which the action is based.” Applying
the D.C. Circuit’s formulation of §3730(e)(4)(A) in
Springfield Terminal v. Quinn, 14 F.3d 645, 654
(D.C. Cir. 1994), the district court concluded that,
even “providing a liberal view as to that which was
available to the public, it is clear that such informa-
tion would not supply the allegations of fraud or
the elements necessary to such an allegation.” The
essential elements of Claim II were the existence of
the contract provisions requiring environmental
compliance, the failure to so comply, and the sub-
mission of claims in such a way as to induce the
Government to make payments believing there had
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been compliance. The publicly available informa-
tion at most established that Accudyne entered into
the government contracts and subsequently com-
mitted acts that rendered it noncompliant with
environmental laws. Therefore, the relators were
not precluded from bringing Claim II for lack of
jurisdiction under §3730(e)(4).

The suit was settled later in June 1995. (See “Qui
Tam Settlements and Judgments” below in this
issue.) 

Public Disclosure Bar and
Original Source Exception

U.S. ex rel. Eitel v. Evergreen
International Airlines Inc. et al., No.
C94-1017Z (W.D.Wash. May 31, 1995)

A qui tam suit based upon all ega ti ons pub-
l i cly discl o s ed by the media tri ggered the
F C A’s public discl o su re bar according to a
Wa s h i n g ton distri ct co u rt . Because the rel a-
tor played no part in the public discl o su re s ,
the co u rt held that the “ori ginal source”
e xcepti on did not app ly and dismissed the
suit for lack of su bj ect matter ju ri s d i cti on .

In 1989, the relator Eitel worked for one month as
a pilot trainee for Evergreen International Airlines,
which had been awarded a two year contract with
the U.S. Postal Service (USPS) to transport mail.
Four years after voluntarily leaving the company,
Eitel notified the Government of allegedly fraudu-
lent acts by Evergreen. In 1994, Eitel filed his qui
tam suit alleging that the defendants conspired in a
fraudulent scheme by paying illegal gratuities to
obtain two USPS contracts and inducing Postal
Service officials to provide various types of prefer-
ential treatment.

The court singled out several newspaper articles
that had previously questioned Evergreen’s pro-
curement of the contracts, including articles that
were published prior to Eitel’s employment with
Evergreen. One of the articles summarized the
findings of a USPS audit that was critical of the

contractual arrangements and their amendments.
Another questioned how Evergreen obtained one
of the contracts when its bid exceeded that of five
other finalists. The court concluded that Eitel’s
complaint essentially repeated the allegations con-
tained in the USPS audit and newspaper reports.

According to the court, Eitel did not dispute that
the factual allegations in his complaint were based
on inform a ti on alre ady in the public dom a i n .
However, Eitel argued that his complaint supplied a
previ o u s ly undiscl o s ed essen tial el em ent of
Evergreen’s alleged fraud, i.e., its intent to defraud.
The court rejected this contention, finding that
“intent to defraud” is not a required element of a
FCA violation. Instead, the Act requires only actu-
al or constructive knowledge of the claim’s falsity,
which one can deduce from the public disclosures.
The court also noted that, even if intent was a nec-
essary element, Eitel presented no direct evidence
of intent, and instead merely inferred intent from
the publicly disclosed factual allegations.

In determining wh et h er the “ori ginal source”
exception applied, the court applied the Wang (U.S.
ex rel. Wang v. FMC Corp., 975 F.2d 1412 (9th Cir.
1992)) “third prong” test requiring Eitel to have
directly or indirectly assisted in the audit and
media public disclosures. The court found that
Eitel did not assist in the public disclosures.

U.S. ex rel. Barajas et al. v. Northrop
Corporation, Memorandum Opinion
and Order, No. CV 87-7288 KN (Kx)
(C.D.Cal. May 9, 1995)

A rel a tor who tri ggered a criminal inve s ti ga-
ti on and su b s equ ent indictm ent for false te s t-
ing and false certi f i c a ti on of a defective com-
pon ent was not ju ri s d i cti on a lly barred under
§3730(e)(4) from pursuing the defective
com pon ent cl a i m , even though he learn ed
s pecific inform a ti on abo ut the claim from
p u blic discl o su res rega rding the cri m i n a l
i nve s ti ga ti on . The 9th Ci rcuit had set aside
the distri ct co u rt’s pri or holding that the
rel a tor ’s acti on was barred by §3730(e)(4)
and directed the lower co u rt to con du ct a fac-
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tual inqu i ry as to wh et h er the Govern m en t
d i s covered the fraud as a re sult of a cri m i n a l
i nve s ti ga ti on prom pted by the rel a tor. O n
rem a n d , the distri ct co u rt held that the rel a-
tor played some part in the Govern m en t’s
d i s covery of the defective com pon ent fra u d
and was therefore an “ori ginal source” t h a t
could pursue the cl a i m .

In January 1987 Barajas, a Northrop test techni-
cian, reported to the Government that Northrop
h ad falsified test data on the Flight Data
Transmitter (FDT), a critical component of the Air
Launched Cruise Missile (ALCM) guidance system.
A few weeks later, Barajas told the Government that
test failures were occurring right after each unit was
exposed to sub-zero temperatures. Barajas, along
with a fellow employee, Meyers, filed a qui tam
complaint in October 1987 alleging that Northrop
had knowingly falsified testing of the FDTs and that
the FDTs con t a i n ed su b s t a n d a rd com pon en t s .
Defective damping fluid, the specific cause of the
failures, was not mentioned in the complaint.

After a lengthy investigation, in February 1989 the
Government intervened in the suit, but only as to
the false testing allegations. Simultaneously, the
Government conducted a separate criminal investi-
gation that resulted in a June 1989 indictment of
Northrop for false testing and false certification of
defective damping flu i d . In August 1990, t h e
Government dropped the defective parts allega-
tions in exchange for Northrop pleading guilty to
false testing, paying a $17 million criminal fine,and
settling the civil claims for $8 million.

The 1990 settlement with Northrop did not include
the qui tam allegations the Government chose not
to join. In November 1990, Barajas filed an amend-
ed complaint that added damping fluid fraud alle-
ga ti ons almost iden tical to the ch a r ges in the
Government’s criminal indictment. In December
1991, the court dismissed Barajas’ severed claim,
finding that Barajas had based his allegations on a
“public disclosure” — the criminal indictment —
and that he was not an “original source” because he
had not provided the Government with specific
information regarding the damping fluid prior to
filing his complaint. On appeal, the 9th Circuit set

aside the ruling and remanded the case with ques-
tions of fact for the district court.

Barajas is an “Original Source”
If He “Played Some Part” in the 
Public Disclosure of the Damping Fluid
Fraud Allegation

According to the 9th Ci rc u i t , the distri ct co u rt was
requ i red to determine wh et h er the “govern m en t’s
d i s cl o su re of the damping fluid all ega ti ons was the
re sult of a criminal inve s ti ga ti on that was insti ga ted
as a con s equ en ce of the inform a ti on Ba ra jas provi d-
ed to the govern m en t .” If the discovery of t h e
a ll eged fraud was “prom pted by a source of i n for-
m a ti on wh o lly indepen dent of Ba ra ja s ,” t h en
Ba ra ja s’ a ll ega ti ons would tri gger the public discl o-
su re bar. Fu rt h er, Ba ra jas was “an ‘ori ginal source’ i f
he played some part , wh et h er direct or indirect , i n
the ‘p u blic discl o su re’ of the damping fluid fra u d .”
The 9th Ci rcuit ex p l a i n ed that the FCA’s referen ce
to “an ori ginal source ,” wh i ch su ggests that more
than one “ori ginal source” can bring su i t , a n d
§ 3 7 3 0 ( d ) ( 1 ) , wh i ch provi des a redu ced share for
suits “b a s ed pri m a ri ly on the discl o su res of s pec i f i c
i n form a ti on ,” i n d i c a te that perm i s s i ble rel a tors
i n clu de those who provi de “s ome of the inform a-
ti on rel a ted to the claim even if the essen tial el e-
m ents were alre ady publ i cly discl o s ed .”

The district court considered the “public disclo-
sure” and “original source” factual questions posed
by the 9th Circuit to be essentially the same. Both
were answered by determining “whether the gov-
ernment’s criminal investigation, which led to the
source of the damping fluid allegations, was insti-
gated in response to Barajas’ disclosure or whether
that discovery was prompted by a source of infor-
mation wholly independent of Barajas.” If Barajas’
whistleblowing either directly or indirectly led to
the government investigation, then Barajas was an
“original source” and the public disclosure bar
would not apply.
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Barajas’ Information Led to Discovery of
Damping Fluid Fraud

The district court concluded that Barajas’ informa-
tion did, in fact, lead to the discovery of the damp-
ing fluid fraud. After the Government learned of
Barajas’ allegations regarding falsification of FDT
test data, it initiated independent testing of the
FDTs at two Air Force bases. The testing revealed
that the damping fluid was prematurely freezing.
According to the court, there was sufficient evi-
dence in the record to establish the link between the
Government’s investigation of Barajas’ false testing
allegations and the freezing damping fluid discov-
ery which “emerged”from that investigation.

The co u rt rej ected Nort h rop’s con ten ti on that the
Air Force’s te s ting of F D Ts had been ro utine since
1985 and any discovery of the damping fluid defect
was indepen dent of Ba ra ja s’ i n form a ti on . To the
con tra ry, the co u rt con clu ded that the damping
f luid probl em was on ly discovered after the te s ti n g
procedu res were ch a n ged , and the ch a n ge was initi-
a ted as a re sult of his inform a ti on . According to the
co u rt , as long as Ba ra ja s’ i n form a ti on led to the dis-
covery of the fra u d , t h en his acti on was not su bj ect
to the §3730(e)(4) public discl o su re bar.

U.S. ex rel. Fallon et al. v. Accudyne
Corp. and Alliant Techsystems, Inc.,
Memorandum and Order, No. 93-C-
801-S (W.D.Wisc. June 19, 1995)

See “False Claims Involving Compliance with
Environmental Laws/Constitutionality of FCA”
above in this section.

Court of Federal Claims
Jurisdiction

Stinson, Lyons & Bustamante, P.A. v.
U.S., No. 93-771C (US FedCl May 8,
1995)

The U. S . Co u rt of Federal Claims (COFC)
ru l ed that it lacks ju ri s d i cti on to determ i n e
wh et h er a qui tam rel a tor qualifies as an

“ori ginal source” within the meaning of t h e
F C A . In this case, a distri ct co u rt had
a l re ady dismissed the rel a tor ’s case pursu a n t
to the FCA’s public discl o su re bar. T h e
COFC decl i n ed to hear the rel a tor ’s claim to
recover a share of the Govern m en t’s $27
m i ll i on set t l em ent with the defendant wh i ch
was obt a i n ed in an indepen dent acti on .

On May 8, 1988, the law firm of Stinson, Lyons &
Bustamante filed a qui tam suit against Provident
Life and Accident Insurance Co.,alleging violations
of the Medicare secondary payer laws. On January
12, 1989, the Government elected not to intervene
in the suit. On April 5, 1989, the Government filed
an alternate remedy complaint against Provident in
the U. S . Di s tri ct Co u rt for the Di s tri ct of
Columbia,seeking declaratory and injunctive relief
and damages. The Government thereafter reached
a $27 million settlement with Provident.

S ti n s on’s qui tam suit was ori gi n a lly filed in the
So ut h ern Di s tri ct of F l ori d a , wh ere su bj ect matter
ju ri s d i cti on was su s t a i n ed , but then was tra n s ferred
to the Eastern Di s tri ct of Ten n e s s ee . The Ten n e s s ee
co u rt recon s i dered the Florida co u rt’s ju ri s d i cti on a l
ruling and dismissed Sti n s on’s claim with preju d i ce ,
holding that Sti n s on did not qualify as an “ori gi n a l
s o u rce” of the publ i cly discl o s ed inform a ti on upon
wh i ch its suit was based .

Pending Stinson’s appeal of the Tennessee court’s
dismissal, the parties settled the suit for an undis-
closed amount. Provident agreed to reimburse
Stinson for a portion of its costs and attorneys’ fees,
and Stinson agreed to dismiss with prejudice its
FCA action, while reserving the right to share in the
Government’s recovery in an alternate remedy pro-
ceeding. The district court approved the settlement
on June 25, 1992.

When the Government and Provident settled for
$27 million, Stinson requested a share of between
10 and 25 percent of the proceed s . Th e
G overn m en t , h owever, m a i n t a i n ed that Sti n s on
was not entitled to any share because it had failed
to qualify as a qui tam relator. Accordingly, Stinson
filed suit in the COFC seeking a statutory share of
the $27 million recovery.
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COFC Lacks Jurisdiction to Determine
Entitlement Under FCA

Stinson argued that the COFC had jurisdiction
under the Tucker Act, which grants jurisdiction to
the COFC over any claim against the U.S. arising
under a federal statute that can fairly be interpret-
ed as mandating the payment of remedial compen-
s a ti on . S pec i f i c a lly, S ti n s on asserted that the
Government was wrongfully withholding compen-
sation to which it was entitled as a qui tam relator
pursuant to the alternate remedy and relator’s share
provisions at 31 U.S.C. §3730(c)(5) and (d)(1).

The COFC found U.S. ex rel. LeBlanc v. Raytheon
Co., 1995 WL 121594 (Fed. Cir. Mar. 23, 1995), to
be applicable. In that case, the 1st Circuit had
affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the relator
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, finding that
LeBlanc was not an “original source” of the publicly
disclosed information upon which he relied in
bringing his qui tam suit.

LeBlanc then filed suit in the COFC, alleging con-
stitutional and statutory violations and seeking
damages from the Government. He advanced two
grounds for his damages claim: the Government’s
interference with his qui tam suit against Raytheon;
and Tucker Act jurisdiction based on the FCA,
which he argued confers a substantive right on rela-
tors to a share of any recovery from the defendant.
The COFC dismissed all of LeBlanc’s claims for
lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and the Federal
Circuit affirmed.

The Federal Circuit “firmly rejected” the jurisdic-
tional argument made by LeBlanc and “similarly
made here by Stinson.” To prove damages against
the U.S., LeBlanc had to show an entitlement to
recover money under the FCA. However, the
Federal Circuit held that the COFC does not have
jurisdiction “to determine that LeBlanc had a valid
qui tam suit under the [FCA]. . . because qui tam
suits may only be heard in the district courts.”
Moreover, a district court had found that LeBlanc’s
suit was jurisdictionally barred under the FCA.

Likewise, the COFC reasoned, Stinson had to show
an entitlement to money that the Government
wrongfully denied. In order to prove such an enti-

tlement and rebut the Government’s motion to dis-
miss, Stinson had to demonstrate that it was an
“original source” of the publicly disclosed informa-
tion upon which its qui tam complaint was based.
Even if no co u rt had yet determ i n ed wh et h er
Stinson’s qui tam action could survive the FCA’s
jurisdictional bar, the COFC had no authority to
make such finding. According to the COFC, a fed-
eral district court must first determine the relator’s
entitlement to a FCA recovery before the relator
can seek redress in the COFC.

Stinson Collaterally Estopped by District
Court Finding

In this case the distri ct co u rt had alre ady deter-
m i n ed that Sti n s on’s qui tam acti on was barred by
§ 3 7 3 0 ( e ) ( 4 ) . Accord i n gly, the COFC found Sti n s on
co ll a tera lly estopped from ch a ll en ging that ruling in
a n o t h er foru m . The co u rt con clu ded that, u n der
the facts pre s en ted , “the FCA does not su pport
Tu cker Act ju ri s d i cti on in this co u rt , a n d , on this
b a s i s , this co u rt furt h er holds that it lacks su bj ect
m a t ter ju ri s d i cti on to ad ju d i c a te Sti n s on’s cl a i m s .”

Statute of Limitations

U.S. v. Rivera, 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS
13730 (1st Cir. June 6, 1995)

Reversing a judgment for nearly $2 million,
the 1st Circuit ruled that the Government
filed its FCA case approximately three
months after the applicable six-year statute
of limitations had run. According to the
court, a claim was presented for purposes of
triggering the FCA’s statute of limitations
when a private lender submitted an applica-
tion to the Government for reimbursement
of a federally insured loan, not when the
defaulted loan was later formally assigned
to the Government.

This case involved a fraud scheme carried out by
two individuals in the late 1970s in connection with
a $12.46 million mortgage loan for renovation and
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ex p a n s i on of a hospital in Pu erto Ri co. Th e
Department o f Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) insured the loan pursuant to the National
Housing Act. In 1982, the defendants were both
criminally convicted of conspiring to defraud the
Government and making false statements in sup-
port of fraudulent claims. The defendants’ fraud
resulted in the private lender making an inflated
claim to HUD for reimbursement on the defaulted
federally insured loan. The lender applied for
HUD reimbursement on July 17, 1979 and formal-
ly assigned the mortgage to HUD on October 26,
1979. The Government’s FCA action was institut-
ed on October 25, 1985. The district court granted
summary judgment in favor of the Government,
awarding it more than $1.9 million. Defendants
a ppe a l ed , arguing that the Govern m en t’s civi l
action was filed too late.

“Claim” Presented When Demand for
Money Was Made to Induce Payment

The main question before the 1st Circuit was at
what point did the private lender’s interest in fed-
eral reimbursement become a “claim” for FCA pur-
poses and therefore trigger the Act’s statute of lim-
itations. The Government argued that a claim was
not presented until October 26, 1979, when the
lender, Merrill Lynch, formally assigned its mort-
gage on the property, thereby meeting a condition
precedent to HUD’s obl i ga ti on to pay Merri ll
Lynch under the insurance contract. The court,
however, found that a claim was made on July 17,
1979, when Merrill Lynch filed with HUD the
det a i l ed “ Mort ga gee’s App l i c a ti on for Pa rti a l
Settlement,” which set forth specific financial infor-
mation about the defaulted loan including the
amount in default and the unpaid balance.

The 1st Circuit noted that in U.S. v. McNinch, 356
U.S. 595,599 (1958), and U.S. v. Neifert-White, 390
U. S . 2 2 8 , 230 (1968), the Su preme Co u rt had
defined a “claim” under the FCA as a “demand for
money” that is “made with the purpose and effect
of inducing the Government immediately to part
with money.” The 1st Circuit instructed that, in
deciding whether a given false statement is a claim
or demand for payment,“a court should look to see
if, within the payment scheme, the statement has
the practical purpose and effect, and poses the

attendant risk, of inducing wrongful payment.”

According to the co u rt , the con tents of the Ju ly 17
a pp l i c a ti on indicated that it was a “demand for
m on ey.” In set ting forth both the amount Merri ll
Ly n ch ex pected to receive and the met h od of p ay-
m en t , the app l i c a ti on re s em bl ed an invoi ce , bi ll , or
o t h er demand for govern m ent mon ey. The co u rt
ex p l a i n ed : “The com p l eted form can be re ad as
e s s en ti a lly saying to HUD, ‘We are owed this amount
u n der the terms of our insu ra n ce con tract’.’’

Moreover, the application’s contents had the pur-
pose and effect of inducing the Government to part
with its money. Inflated because of the defendants’
fraud, the figures in the application were what
Merrill Lynch claimed to be owed. The document
thus “created the risk that the government would,
in reliance upon those figures, be induced to pay
the ‘fraudulent’ amount.”

The 1st Circuit rejected the Government’s con-
tention that a claim was not filed until the October,
1979 mortgage assignment was made. Instead, the
court found that the assignment “merely trans-
ferred the mortgage to the government, in compli-
ance with a condition to payment which had to be
met, as a matter of course, in effectuating the July
17 claim.” The assignment contained no dollar fig-
ures and did not purport to demand money.

Delay in Payment Does Not Negate
Claim Under Act

The Government, citing U.S. v. McNinch, argued
that a request for payment must cause an “immedi-
ate financial detriment” to the Government to con-
stitute a “claim” under the FCA. The Government
contended that the key factor is the legal effect of
such a request, as specified under the terms of the
contract. Because, under the terms of the insur-
ance contract, submission of the July 17 application
did not give rise to an instant unconditional oblig-
ation to pay Merrill Lynch, it was not a “claim”
according to the Government.

The 1st Circuit rejected this argument, finding that
the Government misread McNinch and that the
FCA covers all claims that are made to induce the
Government to part with money, not only claims
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that trigger the Government’s legal obligation to
pay. The court held that the July 17 application had
the “practical effect of inducing payment in a suffi-
ciently ‘immediate’ manner” to satisfy the Supreme
Court’s standard. The fact that payment was not
literally “immediate” (with nearly six months lag
time between the filing of the application and the
transfer of funds) was not itself dispositive. Similar
delay can occur in the Government’s payment on
an invoice or loan application, both clearly claims
under the Act.

Government’s Action Time Barred

Applying the six-year statute of limitations con-
tained in the 1982 version of the FCA, the 1st
Circuit held that the Government’s action was
barred. The Government had filed suit on October
25, 1985, more than six years after the July 17, 1979
false claim.

Sec ti on 3730(h) Ret a l i a ti on Cl a i m s

U.S. ex rel. Mikes v. Strauss et al.,
Opinion and Order, No. 92 Civ. 2754
(WCC) (S.D.N.Y. June 20, 1995)

A qui tam p l a i n ti f f who all eged that her form er
physician em p l oyers su bm i t ted false Med i c a re
ch a rges and improperly fired her provi ded su f f i-
c i ent evi den ce to preclu de su m m a ry ju d gm en t , a
New York distri ct co u rt ru l ed . However, t h e
co u rt held that the em p l oym ent cl a i m s ,i n clu d i n g
the §3730(h) cl a i m , were su bj ect to an arbi tra ti on
clause in the rel a tor ’s em p l oym ent agreem en t .

This qui tam case arose out of Mi ke s’ em p l oym en t
with three doctors . Mi kes cl a i m ed that wh i l e
em p l oyed by the doctors she ob s erved spirom etry
tests and MRIs perform ed exce s s ively, u n n ece s s a ri ly,
and improperly. She furt h er all eged that the doctors
perform ed the MRIs at fac i l i ties in wh i ch they had a
financial interest and that paid them ye a rly “con su l t-
ing fee s .” Mi kes also cl a i m ed she ch a ll en ged the doc-
tors abo ut their te s ting practi ces but her com p l a i n t s
were tre a ted with indifferen ce . Su b s equ en t ly Mi ke s
was noti f i ed that she was being term i n a ted for failing

to maintain proper hospital ad m i t ting privi l ege s .
Mi kes all eged that her disch a r ge was in re s ponse to
h er complaints abo ut defen d a n t s’ i m proper te s ti n g
and fra u du l ent bi lling practi ce s .

In a response to a series of defendant motions and
instructions from the court, Mikes filed an amend-
ed complaint and an affidavit setting forth her alle-
gations and supporting facts. After examining the
complaint and affidavit,the court found that Mikes
met her prima facie burden as to each liability the-
ory and raised genuine issues of fact sufficient to
defeat a summary judgment motion.

A Threat to File a Qui Tam Suit Not
Necessary to State a Prima Facie
§3730(h) Claim

In addressing whether Mikes set forth a prima facie
retaliation case under §3730(h), the court outlined
the three nece s s a ry el em ents as formu l a ted in
Robertson v. Bell Helicopter Textron Inc., 32 F.3d
948 (5th Cir. Sept 26,1994): (1) that the individual
engaged in conduct protected under the statute; (2)
that defendants were aware of the conduct; and (3)
that the individual was terminated in retaliation for
her conduct. In order to establish the first element,
the court noted that it was not necessary to have
actually filed suit under the FCA. According to the
court, Mikes’ observation of the misused tests, her
investigation of individual patient histories indicat-
ing the tests were overutilized, and her confronta-
tion with the defendants were protected conduct
because they provided a reasonable basis for bring-
ing a qui tam action.

On the question of defendant knowledge, the court
declined to interpret Robertson as establishing a
bright line rule that an employee must expressly
accuse the employer of defrauding the Government
or threaten a qui tam action. Rather, the court
broadly interpreted Robertson as formulating a
“notice rule.” That is, an employee must produce
sufficient facts from which a reasonable jury could
conclude that the employer discharged the employ-
ee because it had reason to believe, based upon her
activities, that the employee was contemplating a
qui tam action. In the view of the court, to insist
upon an express or implied threat to sue was a
wholly unrealistic standard in the employment
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context, since any employee lodging such threats
could “scarcely expect a long and happy tenure.”

According to the court, Mikes’ actions were easily
distinguished from those in Robertson, where the
employee’s job required that he look into the billing
practices of the company. Mikes openly com-
plained to one of the doctors about the misuse of
the tests and informed him that he could not charge
the tests to Medicare. In addition,she inspected his
private files and accused him of overutilization.
Furthermore, the doctor allegedly became enraged
with Mikes over her inspections. Taking these
activities as a whole, the court found that a reason-
able jury could conclude that the defendants knew
Mikes was investigating their billing in contempla-
tion of a qui tam suit.

In considering the third element, that the defen-
dants terminated the plaintiff because of her pro-
tected conduct, the court reasoned that Mikes had
raised an issue of fact regarding the actual reason
for the firing. Although the defendants argued that
numerous valid reasons for her firing existed, the
court ruled that the defendants must “prove affir-
matively by a preponderance of the evidence that
the same decision would have been made even if
plaintiff had not engaged in protected activity.”
Al t h o u gh the stated re a s on for the firing was,
among other things, Mikes’ failure to obtain admit-
ting privileges at one par ticular hospital, her appli-
cation for privileges was pending at the time of her
termination and she had obtained privileges at all
other relevant hospitals. Consequently, the court
ruled that Mikes had sufficiently called into ques-
tion the defendants’ stated reason for her termina-
tion so as to preclude summary judgment.

Mikes’ Qui Tam Complaint Not 
Covered by Employment Agreement’s
Arbitration Clause

The defendants had requested that all issues not
dismissed by the court,including the qui tam claim,
be submitted to arbitration since Mikes’ employ-
m ent con tract inclu ded an arbi tra ti on cl a u s e .
Without difficulty, the court concluded that Mikes’
qui tam claim was clearly outside the scope of her
employment agreement and thus not covered by
the arbitration clause. The agreement related sole-

ly to the terms of her employment, and the qui tam
claim did not to u ch upon em p l oym ent statu s .
Mikes, according to the court, could have brought
the suit even if she had not been an employee.
Furthermore, the Government is the real party in
interest in a qui tam suit. Since the Government
was not a party to the employment agreement, it
could not be bound by its terms.

Mikes’ Retaliation Claim Must Be
Resolved Through Arbitration

The court distinguished the retaliatory discharge
claim from the qui tam claim as involving issues
surrounding the terms and conditions of employ-
ment which were contained in the employment
agreement. The court reasoned that, in the context
of statutory causes of action,the general policy is to
give ef fect to arbi tra ti on agreem ents unless
Congress demonstrates a contrary intent. Applying
this test, the court found that neither the express
language nor the legislative history of §3730(h)
addressed its amenability to arbitration.

Ad d i ti on a lly, the co u rt rej ected Mi ke s’ con ten ti on
that the FCA’s ex press public purposes were in direct
con f l i ct with priva te dispute re s o luti on . Mi kes had
a r g u ed that, given the overa ll deterrent role of t h e
s t a tute , the arbi tra bi l i ty of the qui tam acti on and
ret a l i a tory disch a r ge claim were nece s s a ri ly linked .
The co u rt , h owever, d i s ti n g u i s h ed §3730(h) from
the qui tam cl a i m , finding §3730(h) to be pri m a ri ly
rem edial in natu re . According to the co u rt , the pur-
pose of providing a rem edy to an em p l oyee term i-
n a ted for wh i s t l ebl owing was  in no way inhibi ted by
a rbi tra ti on since arbi tra ti on sti ll of fered Mi kes a
forum in wh i ch to fully vi n d i c a te her cl a i m .
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Scope of Liability

U.S. v. Village of Island Park et al.,
1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6938 (E.D.N.Y.
May 17, 1995)

A New York municipal vi ll a ge wh o s e
em p l oyees steered federal housing su b s i d i e s
to fri ends and rel a tives with the ef fect of
e xcluding minori ties and su bverting minori-
ty parti c i p a ti on goals was found liable for fil-
ing false cl a i m s . The distri ct co u rt held that
the en ti re amount of federal funds paid out
to the Vi ll a ge was the app rop ri a te measu re of
d a m a ges and that civil pen a l ties app l i ed to
e ach mon t h ly mort ga ge su b s i dy cl a i m .

This case involved the administration of a federal
housing program by the Village of Island Park, New
York (the Village) between 1979 and 1983. Rather
than allow homes financed by the Department of
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to be
obtained on a first-come, first-served basis after
public announcement as required by federal law,
the Village pre-selected certain individuals, includ-
ing friends and relatives, for receipt of the housing.
These individuals filed application letters before the
housing program was publicly announced, and the
Village stamped the letters as arriving the first
morning after the announcement. Further, while
the Village had agreed to promote minority partic-
ipation in the housing program, it acted in a man-
ner that excluded minority recipients. As a result,
the Village caused the Government to pay out
a pprox i m a tely $650,000 in federal Com mu n i ty
Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds, as well
as an undetermined amount of mortgage subsidies,
that were not put to their proper use. Th e
Government’s suit named the Village as a corporate
entity and certain Village officials.

Village Liable for Acts of Clerk Who
Illegally Administered HUD Program

The case was before the district court on a motion
for summary judgment. Addressing the Village’s
liability for the acts of its program administrator
(the Village Clerk), the court followed FCA prece-

dent regarding the applicability of respondeat supe-
rior. Prior case law had established that a corpora-
tion is vicariously liable for acts “committed by an
employee of a corporation who is acting within the
scope of his authority and, at least in part, for the
employer’s benefit,” or if the employee “acted with
apparent authority, even if the acts do not benefit
the corporation at all.”

The court found that the administration of HUD
funds was within the scope of the Village Clerk’s
duties, that the Village Clerk performed the acts
upon which the Government based its claim during
regular business hours, and that the Village was
actively involved in the housing program and took
credit for how it was administered. The Village pro-
duced no evidence that it or any of its officers con-
tested the clerk’s illegal acts. Therefore, the court
concluded that the clerk’s acts could provide the
basis for the Village’s FCA liability under principles
of respondeat superior.

The Village’s Fraudulent Course of
Conduct Triggers Liability Under the
False Claims Act

In what it acknowledged was a broad reading of the
FCA, the court held that the “fraudulent scheme”
for administering the federally funded housing pro-
gram constituted the type of conduct the FCA was
intended to reach. Here the purchasers were chosen
in violation of the conditions on which the pro-
gram was approved, including the condition that
selections be made on a first-come, first-served
basis and the condition that a diligent good faith
effort be made to comply with affirmative minority
marketing goals. Those goals were subverted by the
preven ti on of a ny non - wh i te qu a l i f i ed Vi ll a ge
applicants from obtaining homes. The court con-
cluded that finding this scheme to be a violation of
the FCA was consistent with other courts’ broad
reading of the Act.

In addition to the Village’s liability for its fraudu-
lent scheme, the court predicated a finding of lia-
bility on numerous false statements made by the
Village in participating in the housing program.
One of the program parti c i p a ti on agreem en t s
signed by the Village explicitly prohibited racial dis-
c ri m i n a ti on . Fu rt h erm ore , the Vi ll a ge Cl erk ,
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among other things, falsely stated in a letter to
HUD that the Village had used a first-come, first-
served selection method.

Fraudulent Conduct and Statements
Became “Claims” When Innocent
Mortgagee Submitted Claims for
Mortgage Subsidies 

The Village’s fraudulent course of conduct resulted
in HUD-subsidized mortgages. When the lender
innocently submitted claims to HUD for payment
on those mortgages, “the fraudulent course of con-
du ct pursuant to wh i ch the mort ga ges were
approved emerge in ‘full vigor’ and become part of
those claims, which therefore constitute false claims
within the meaning of the Act .” Ad d i ti on a lly,
according to the court, a separate basis for FCA lia-
bility existed with respect to each monthly mort-
gage subsidy claim submitted by the lender.

Government Knowledge of Falsity
Not a Defense

The district court joined a growing list of courts to
find that government knowledge of a claim’s falsity
does not automatically bar an action under the
FCA. Applying U.S. ex rel. Hagood v. Sonoma
County Water Agency, 929 F.2d 1416 (9th Cir. Apr.
2,1991),the court held that government knowledge
of falsity is not necessarily a defense but can be rel-
evant to show the defendant did not submit the
claim with actual or constructive knowledge. In
this case, the court concluded that it was undisput-
ed that the Village knowingly caused false claims to
be su bm i t ted . In ad d i ti on , the re a s on the
Government continued to pay mortgage subsidies
after it became aware of the Village’s fraudulent
scheme was that it was already contractually bound
to make such payments.

Finally, the court granted the motion for summary
judgment against the Village but found facts in dis-
pute as to whether certain individual defendants
were part of a conspiracy to submit false claims.

Retroactivity

Ruling on the same day, the 9th Circuit and a
California district court decided in separate cases
that the pre-1986 provision barring qui tam cases
based upon information in the Government’s pos-
session did not apply even though the defendant
conduct occurred prior to the enactment of the
1986 amen d m ents to the FCA. In ex a m i n i n g
whether the less restrictive amended law should
govern, both courts applied the “retroactivity” test
established in Landgraf v. USI Film Products, 114
S.Ct. 1483 (1994). Under Landgraf, the first step of
analysis involves an examination of the statutory
l a n g u a ge and legi s l a tive history to determ i n e
whether Congress prescribed the proper reach of
the statute. If no such prescription is found, the
analysis focuses on whether the particular amended
provi s i on wi ll have “retroactive ef fect ,” that is,
impair substantive rights existing at the time of the
con du ct , i n c rease liabi l i ty for past con du ct , or
impose new duties upon completed transactions. If
there is such an effect, there is a presumption
against retroactive application. With reference to
the FCA’s amended jurisdictional bar, both courts
found there was no prohibited “retroactive effect”
in applying  the amended law to qui tam cases
involving pre-1986 conduct.

U.S. ex rel. Anderson v. Northern
Telecom, Inc., 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS
8969 (9th Cir. Apr. 20, 1995)

A relator who in 1988 notified the
Government prior to filing a qui tam suit
regarding fraud that allegedly occurred
before 1986 should not have been barred by
the pre-1986 government notice jurisdic-
tional provision, according to the 9th
Circuit. Because the relator acted after the
1986 jurisdictional amendment and the
amendment changed the consequences of
his conduct only (not the defendant’s),
application of the amended law was proper.

11



In 1988, Anderson told the FBI that Northern
Tel ecom had knowi n gly sold defective digi t a l
telecommunications switching systems to the U.S.
Army. In 1990, Anderson filed his qui tam suit. The
Government chose not to intervene. Most of the
switches at issue were delivered and paid for prior
to 1986. The district court dismissed the claims
regarding these switches pursuant to the pre-1986
FCA provision that barred qui tam actions when
the Government was already aware of the fraud.

Amended Jurisdictional Bar Only 
Affects the Relator and Does Not 
Change the Legal Consequences of
Defendant’s Conduct

Under the pre-1986 law, Anderson’s suit was barred
because the Government had notice of the claims
before the suit was filed, and there was no “original
source” exception. Therefore, the appellate court
had to determine whether the lower court correctly
applied the prior law rather than the 1986 version.
The 9th Ci rcuit adopted the Su preme Co u rt’s
Landgraf test and concentrated its inquiry on the
“conduct that would be affected by the law.”

The 9th Circuit noted that, if a statute changes legal
consequences of conduct that occurs after the law
goes into effect, it operates prospectively and there
is no issue of retroactivity; that is, there is no
“retroactive effect.” In this case,the 1986 changes to
the jurisdictional provision did not alter the legal
consequences of the defendant’s pre-1986 conduct.
Clearly, at that time Northern Telecom did not have
the right to submit a false claim; if it did so, it
“became liable and remained liable to the govern-
ment and potential qui tam relators.” With the
more relaxed jurisdictional provisions enacted in
1986, Congress had only changed the consequences
of the relator’s conduct. Because in this case the
relator’s notification and filing of suit occurred
after the 1986 amendments went into effect, the 9th
Circuit concluded that the district court must apply
the 1986 public disclosure bar and original source
exception, not the pre-1986 government notice bar.

FCA is Targeted at Lies, Not Innocent
Mistakes or Mere Negligence

On another issue, the 9th Circuit affirmed the dis-

missal of one of An ders on’s claims rega rd i n g
alleged defective switches because he failed to pro-
duce sufficient evidence to support an inference of
fraud. The court stated that a FCA claim must
show a “knowing presentation of what is known to
be false,” and distinguished this from “innocent
mistakes or mere negligence.” In short, the FCA
does not address error but targets “lies.”

The court summarized the course of events regard-
ing this claim as one in which the “switch was
installed, it had bugs, the bugs were fixed,” after
which Northern Telecom billed the Army and was
paid. Anderson’s only evidence was that the switch-
es did not work properly when installed. The Army
saw there was a problem, and, after the Army com-
p l a i n ed , Nort h ern Tel ecom worked to fix the
switches. It was not until after the Army accepted
the fixed switches that Northern Telecom submit-
ted claims for payment. Therefore, according to the
court, there was no evidence of a “knowing presen-
tation” of a false claim.

U.S. ex rel. Newsham and Bloem v.
Lockheed Missiles and Space
Company, Inc., Order Granting in Part
and Denying in Part Lockheed’s
Motion for Reconsideration, CA No. C
92-20591 JW (N.D.Cal. Apr. 20, 1995)

In a decision addressing the applicability of
several of the 1986 FCA amendments, a
California district court ruled that the
amendments regarding jurisdiction, statute
of limitations, attorneys’ fees, relator’s
share, and burden of proof apply to a case
involving alleged fraud that occurred prior
to 1986. On the other hand, the 1986
amendments to the knowledge standard
and damages and penalties provisions do
not apply to the pre-1986 conduct.

The relators in this case had discovered the alleged
fraud in 1984, notified the Defense Contract Audit
Agency (DCAA), and later filed a qui tam suit in
1988. The case was before the district court on
Lockheed’s motion for reconsideration of a 1989
ruling by a district judge that the 1986 amendments
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sworn and/or reported that defendants failed to
conduct proper examinations. Moreover, defen-
dants have acknowledged that they have been paid
for thousands of examinations, va s t ly ex p a n d i n g
the universe of po s s i ble fra u du l ent activi ty.” Th e
G overn m ent also sought interven ti on because du r-
ing discovery the defendants had ra i s ed cert a i n
privi l eges that the Govern m ent maintained wo u l d
not be app l i c a ble against the U. S .

Un a ble to iden tify case law interpreting “good
cause,” the court relied upon legislative history to
support intervention in this instance. The court
c i ted the 1986 Sen a te Report statem ent that
§3730(c)(3) provides the Government with the
option of intervening after an initial declination in
“situations where new and significant evidence is
found” which “escalate[s] the magnitude or com-
plexity of the fraud.”

Expanded Discovery Not Unduly
Prejudicial to Defendants

The defendants opposed the Government’s inter-
vention based on an argument that it might subject
them to broader discovery. The court responded
that, absent a showing of undue prejudice, the
broadening of discovery is generally not a basis for
denying intervention. In this case, intervention
would not unduly prejudice the defendants because
it would not result in duplicative discovery or
undue delay; the action was in its initial stages and
discovery had only recently begun.

Standing To Challenge
Government Settlement

U.S. ex rel. Papazian and Hanna v.
American Products Industries, Inc.,
dba Paramount Citrus et al., 1995 U.S.
App. LEXIS 14267 (9th Cir. June 9,
1995)

Relators who filed a qui tam action after
reading about a fraud settlement in the
newspaper did not have standing to chal-
lenge the settlement, even though the rela-

tors had notified the Government of the
defendants’ fraud in the first place. The 9th
Circuit upheld the dismissal of the qui tam
complaint on the grounds that DOJ regula-
tions delegating the authority to compro-
mise claims do not create a right of action
for private parties to challenge the validity
of settlement agreements.

In April 1991, Papazian and Hanna met with a
Defense Criminal Inve s ti ga tive Servi ce (DC I S )
agent to discuss allegations that the defendants
were selling adu l tera ted ju i ce produ cts to the
G overn m en t . In Septem ber 1991, the U. S .
Attorney’s Office accepted the case for criminal
prosecution. According to the 9th Circuit’s review
of the record, the DCIS agent learned in April 1992
that Papazian and Hanna were planning to file a qui
tam suit; however, the agent did not have any dis-
cussions with them regarding the proper time to
file, nor did he make any representations that the
Government would give them a chance to file their
qui tam suit before it filed its own civil suit. In June
1 9 9 2 , the Govern m ent re ach ed two set t l em en t
agreements, with Paramount for $6 million and
with an indivi dual defendant for $900,000.
Papazian and Hanna read about the settlements in
the newspaper and subsequently filed a qui tam suit
against the parties the Government had settled
with and an additional defendant not part of the
settlement agreements.

District Court Dismisses Settled Claims

The Government argued for dismissal of the settled
claims because Papazian and Hanna failed to file
their qui tam suit prior to the Government’s settle-
ment and therefore had no statutory vehicle for
seeking a share of the settlement proceeds. The
relators, in turn, argued that the Government had
defrauded them by promising them a chance to file
their qui tam suit first. In ordering a partial dis-
missal, the district court concluded that the FCA
does not require the Government to assist potential
relators in filing their complaints and found that
the Government had made no false representations
to Papazian and Hanna.

Papazian and Hanna then argued that the settle-
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ment agreements were void because they had not
been properly authorized under DOJ regulations.
Without ruling on whether the relators had stand-
ing to challenge whether DOJ regulations had been
met, the district court concluded that the settle-
ment agreements were properly authorized.

DOJ Regulations Do Not Create Right of
Action for Relators to Challenge Validity
of Settlement Agreements

In affirming the lower court dismissal, the 9th
Ci rcuit rej ected rel a tors’ a r g u m ent that DO J ’s
internal regulations regarding settlement authority
permitted them to challenge the settlement agree-
ments. The court noted numerous reasons why
these regulations fall into the category of “rules of
agency organization, procedure, or practice” — so-
called “interpretive rules” — as opposed to those
having the “force and effect of law.” Because they
are merely interpretive rules, the DOJ regulations
“do not create a private right of action for private
parties to challenge DOJ contracts.”

The 9th Circuit further found that the single excep-
tion to this general rule did not apply here. The
Government may be estopped from voiding a con-
tract where a contracting party reasonably relies on
an aut h orizing reg u l a ti on to his detri m en t .
However, in this case the relators were not con-
tracting parties, but instead strangers to the con-
tract. Moreover, they had not reasonably relied to
their detriment on the regulations. While the rela-
tors alleged detrimental reliance on misrepresenta-
tions by the Government, this allegation was with-
out basis according to the district court and, in any
event, was not relevant to establishing the relators’
standing to challenge the settlement agreements.

Relator’s Share of Undisclosed
Government Settlement

U.S. ex rel. Neher, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Arthur
P. Williams v. NEC Corp., No. 92-
2854 (11th Cir. Apr. 28, 1995)

In a strongly worded opinion, the 11th

Circuit held that the relator, a former gov-
ernment employee, was entitled to a share
of the Government’s undisclosed $34 mil-
lion settlement with the defendant, where
the Government had not intervened in the
qui tam lawsuit and failed to notify either
the relator or the court about the settle-
ment, as required by the FCA. The appel-
late court concluded that the Government’s
settlement with NEC Corp. constituted an
election to intervene in the lawsuit and that
the estate of the deceased relator was enti-
tled to 15 percent of the settlement.

Procedural History

The 11th Ci rcuit revi ewed in detail and em ph a s i zed
the perti n en ce of the matter ’s “l en g t hy ” procedu ra l
h i s tory. In Ma rch 1989, Wi ll i a m s , a form er govern-
m ent em p l oyee , f i l ed a qui tam suit all eging that
NEC had en ga ged in bid ri gging and fra u du l en t ly
obt a i n ed thirty-six govern m ent con tracts for
tel ecom mu n i c a ti ons servi ces at U. S .m i l i t a ry bases in
Ja p a n . The Govern m ent did not initi a lly interven e
in the lawsu i t . In s te ad , it filed a moti on to dismiss
Wi ll i a m s , a ll eging that he was not a proper rel a tor
because his suit was based on inform a ti on obt a i n ed
du ring his govern m ent em p l oym en t . The distri ct
co u rt gra n ted the moti on , and Wi lliams appe a l ed .

While the appeal to the 11th Circuit was pending
and the case was still under seal, the Government
publicly revealed the existence of Williams’ lawsuit,
and NEC learn ed of the fraud all ega ti on s .
At torn eys for NEC then approach ed the
G overn m en t , and on May 20, 1991 the
Government entered into a $34 million settlement
a greem ent with the com p a ny. The agreem en t
granted NEC a release of all claims arising out of
the company’s bidding for the telecommunications
services in Japan. The Government settled without
seeking approval from either the district court or
the 11th Ci rcuit and wi t h o ut giving Wi ll i a m s
notice or any opportunity to be heard as to the set-
tlement’s reasonableness.

F i rst learning abo ut the set t l em ent from med i a
report s , on May 21 Wi lliams filed an em er gen c y
m o ti on with the 11th Ci rcuit to en j oin the 
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G overn m ent from en tering into a final set t l em en t
a greem ent with NEC. In opposing the em er gen c y
m o ti on , the Govern m ent “u n equ ivoc a lly ” repre s en t-
ed to the co u rt that the set t l em ent would not affect
a ny ri ghts Wi lliams had to a share of the recovery.

On May 29,1991, the 11th Circuit reversed the dis-
trict court’s dismissal of Williams’ complaint and
rem a n ded for furt h er proceed i n gs . The 11th
Circuit held that the FCA does not contain a gener-
al prohibition against government employees filing
qui tam suits and that the §3730(e)(4) public dis-
closure bar did not apply to Williams’ lawsuit. That
same day, the appellate court also denied Williams’
emergency motion to stop the settlement.

Fo ll owing remand to the distri ct co u rt , Wi ll i a m s
f i l ed a moti on for his statutory share of the set t l e-
m en t , asking for 30 percent of the $34 mill i on pur-
suant to §3730(d). The Govern m ent pre s en ted two
a l tern a tive arguments in opposing Wi ll i a m s’
m o ti on . F i rs t , the Govern m ent con ten ded that
Wi lliams had no ri ght to a statutory share bec a u s e
the distri ct co u rt had dismissed Wi ll i a m s’ com-
plaint before the set t l em ent with NEC was con clu d-
ed . Secon d , the Govern m ent moved for the impo-
s i ti on of a con s tru ctive trust on any funds to wh i ch
Wi lliams was statutori ly en ti t l ed under the theory
that Wi lliams had improperly den i ed his em p l oyer,
the Govern m en t , of m a terial knowl ed ge rega rd i n g
N E C ’s fraud and then used that knowl ed ge to his
own adva n t a ge in the qui tam l awsu i t .

While this moti on was pen d i n g, Wi ll i a m s , who had
c a n cer and was in failing health, s o u ght to pre s erve
his te s ti m ony thro u gh depo s i ti on . Th e
G overn m ent “ veh em en t ly ” oppo s ed his requ e s t ,a n d
the distri ct co u rt ru l ed for the Govern m en t .
Wi lliams also moved for an evi den ti a ry hearing to
determine his en ti t l em ent to a share of the set t l e-
m en t . The distri ct co u rt den i ed this moti on , as well
as Wi ll i a m s’ request for recon s i dera ti on . Wi ll i a m s
t h en filed this second appeal to the 11th Ci rc u i t .

While this appeal was pending, Williams died. The
Government moved to dismiss the appeal as moot,
arguing that the action did not survive the relator’s
death. Williams’ estate opposed dismissal and
moved for the substitution of his personal repre-
sentative, Joanne Neher, as plaintiff-appellant. In

December 1993, the 11th Circuit ruled that a qui
tam lawsuit survives a relator’s death, and it per-
mitted Neher’s substitution.

Intervention and Settlement Provisions
Violated by Government

Revi ewing the statutory fra m ework , the 11th Ci rc u i t
s t a ted that, on ce a qui tam suit is filed , t h e
G overn m ent has sixty days to ch oose one of on ly
t wo opti on s : to intervene and proceed with the
acti on , or to decline interven ti on . If t h e
G overn m ent el ects the form er, it may con trol the
pro s ec uti on of the case, su bj ect to the rel a tor ’s ri gh t
to con ti nue as a party and to obtain a hearing and
co u rt approval rega rding any set t l em ent or dismissal
of the acti on . Un der this scen a ri o, the rel a tor ’s share
is 15 to 25 percent of the recovery. On the other
h a n d ,i f the Govern m ent ch ooses to decl i n e , the rel a-
tor has the ri ght to con du ct the acti on su bj ect to the
G overn m en t’s ri ght to intervene at a later date upon
a showing of good cause, and the rel a tor is en ti t l ed
to 25 to 30 percent of the recovery.

In this case,the court found: “The government has
from the beginning flagrantly and repeatedly vio-
lated the provisions of the statute.” First, the
Government failed either to intervene or notify the
court of its declination to do so within sixty days of
its receipt of the complaint, and,“[w]ithout under-
taking either of these authorized alternatives, the
government succeeded in having Williams’ com-
plaint erroneously dismissed on a jurisdictional
i s su e .” Secon d , “in flagrant disrega rd of t h e
statute,” the Government did not seek leave of
court to intervene or make a showing of good cause
before settling with NEC. Third, the Government
failed either to notify Williams of the settlement or
to seek court approval for it. “In settling with NEC,
the government brazenly ignored both Williams’
right to a hearing and the statutory prerequisite of
court authorization.”

Williams Has Statutory Right to
Share of Settlement 

The Government argued that the court did not
have jurisdiction to award Williams a statutory
share of the settlement because the Government
was not a “party” to the action. The Government
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further argued that Williams had no entitlement
because the facts of the case did not fall into either
of the qui tam recovery provisions set out in
§3730(d). That is, (d)(1) was inapplicable because
the Government did not “proceed[ ] with [the]
acti on ,” and (d)(2) was inapp l i c a ble bec a u s e
Williams did not “collect[ ] the civil penalty and
damages.” Also, the Government maintained that
its settlement with NEC was not a settlement of
Williams’ qui tam action — Williams had not
established that the agreement covered the claims
raised in his complaint.

The 11th Circuit characterized the Government’s
arguments as “specious” and as an attempt “to take
advantage of its blatant violations of the statute.”
The court held that the Government’s settlement
with NEC constituted an election to intervene in
the lawsuit and proceed with the action within the
meaning of the FCA. Further, the settlement effec-
tively terminated the lawsuit, except for the deter-
m i n a ti on of Wi ll i a m s’ s t a tutory share under
§3730(d)(1) of between 15 and 25 percent (as well
as attorneys’ fees and expenses).

The court went on to hold that Williams was enti-
tled to 15 percent of the $34 million settlement.
While noting that the district court generally deter-
mines the rel a tor ’s ex act percen t a ge , the 11th
Circuit concluded that it should determine the
relator’s share on the record before it “[i]n light of
Williams’ death and the government’s ‘head in the
sand’ arbitrariness in opposing Williams’ efforts to
preserve his testimony.”

Government’s Constructive Trust
Argument Rejected

F i n a lly, the 11th Ci rcuit flatly rej ected the
Government’s call for the imposition of a construc-
tive trust on Williams’ statutory share. The court
noted the definition of a constructive trust as a
relationship to property subjecting the title holder
to an equitable duty to convey it to another where
his retention of the property would be wrongful
and constitute unjust enrichment. In this case, the
court found: “Neither Williams, the decedent, nor
his estate, have, have had, or will have any fund of
money or any other type of property to which the
govern m ent has any cl a i m .” Ra t h er, t h e

Government had possession of the $34 million in
settlement funds against which Williams’ estate had
a statutory claim.

Access to Sealed Documents
Submitted by the Government

U.S. ex rel. Pentagen Technologies
International v. CACI International,
Inc. et al., 1995 WL 241942 (S.D.N.Y.
Apr. 16, 1995)

Materials submitted by the Government in
camera during the initial seal period will be
made public absent a showing of good
cause, according to a New York district
court. The court rejected a government
motion to keep all records filed by the
Government under seal, including docu-
ments supporting requests for extensions of
the sixty day seal period. The Government
had declined to intervene in the case and
offered no justification for keeping the doc-
uments sealed. The qui tam relator
opposed the Government’s motion.

The court noted that maintaining the seal on cer-
tain documents would be justified if there were a
showing that release of the materials would inter-
fere with an on going criminal inve s ti ga ti on .
However, in this case the Government supplied no
argument as to how disclosure would be harmful.
After reviewing the sealed materials, the court con-
cluded that the documents at issue described rou-
tine general investigation procedures and would
not implicate specific people or provide any sub-
s t a n tive det a i l s . Denying the Govern m en t’s
motion, the court stated: “Given Congress’ clear
mandate that qui tam relators be able to effectively
bring civil suits under the FCA, it follows that once
the government has decided it will not intervene, it
should not be able to handicap the relator’s action
by keeping materials under seal wi t h o ut som e
showing of good cause or ample justification.”
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Improper IR&D Billing

U.S. ex rel. Mayman v. Martin
Marietta Corporation, Memorandum
and Order, No. MJG-91-1853 (D.Md.
Apr. 26, 1995); Memorandum and
Order (D.Md. May 16, 1995)

Billing research to Independent Research
and Development (IR&D) that was already
required under a separate contract can be
the basis for FCA liability, according to the
Maryland District Court. In so ruling, the
court denied Martin Marietta’s motion to
dismiss, which argued that the company
had in good faith determined that it could
bill certain research specified in one of its
contracts to IR&D and that it had informed
the Government of its intent to do so.
According to the court: (1) the research at
issue was clearly required by Martin
Marietta’s existing contract and could not
be billed to IR&D, and (2) any notification
by the company did not estop the
Government from claiming the FCA was
violated. In a separate ruling, the court
held that Martin Marietta waived its attor-
ney client privilege when it informed the
Government during settlement negotiations
that it had relied on legal advice regarding
its IR&D billing.

In 1984, the U.S. Navy contracted with Martin
Marietta to design and build a full-scale model of a
fake missile, the Supersonic Low Altitude Target
(SLAT), for use in testing missile defense systems.
In 1991, Mayman filed this qui tam suit, and in
1994 the Government elected to intervene. The
G overn m en t’s amen ded complaint all eged that
Martin Marietta intentionally underbid the SLAT
project, planning to bill $30.3 million of SLAT
work to IR&D in order to cover the anticipated
shortfall. IR&D refers to general research funded
by the Govern m ent to su pport cut ting ed ge
research that is “not sponsored by, or required in
the performance of” a specific, existing contract.

E ach ye a r, the Govern m ent nego ti a tes adva n ce
agreements with contractors to perform IR&D up
to certain monetary limits.

The Govern m ent all eged that Ma rtin Ma ri etta bi ll ed
six tasks to IR&D that were alre ady part of the SLAT
con tract ,s et up the six IR&D proj ects pri or to bei n g
aw a rded the SLAT con tract for the specific purpo s e
of bi lling SLAT work to IR&D, and would not have
p u rsu ed the IR&D tasks if it had not received the
S LAT con tract . Ma rtin Ma ri etta filed a 12(b)(6)
m o ti on to dismiss arguing, in part , that the com p a-
ny could not be held liable because the app l i c a bl e
reg u l a ti ons are confusing and the Govern m ent was
aw a re of Ma rtin Ma ri et t a’s bi lling practi ce .

Reg u l a tory Con f u s i on Arg u m ent Rej ec ted

Martin Marietta claimed that the relevant federal
regulations are so confusing that the company can-
not be held liable under the FCA; specifically, con-
tractors often do not know whether to bill research
to the contract itself or to IR&D. The company
claimed that it had made a good faith determina-
tion that it was proper to bill certain SLAT research
to IR&D because that re s e a rch had po ten ti a l
applicability to future contracts.

While conceding that some gray areas in the regu-
lations may result in confusion and honest mis-
takes by government contractors, the court assert-
ed that the allegations in this case do not fall into
any gray area. It was undisputed that the six tasks
at issue were required under the SLAT contract.
Martin Marietta claimed that the tasks were also
rel evant to other con tracts and, u n der federa l
accounting regulations, must therefore be charged
to indirect costs and not to any one contract.
However, the court noted that Martin Marietta had
no current contract other than SLAT which called
for this work. Under the circumstances, the court
concluded: “When applied to a task required by
one contract but with potential benefit to other
future contracts, Martin Marietta’s position does
not appear reasonable.”

Company’s Notice to Government Does
Not Estop FCA Suit

Martin Marietta argued that it had informed the
Government of its intent to bill the SLAT work to
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IR&D and that the Govern m ent was therefore
estopped from claiming fraud under the FCA. The
court rejected this contention, stating that “a gov-
ernment officer cannot authorize a contractor to
violate federal regulations.”

The court noted that, in theory, Martin Marietta’s
discussions with the Government might have mod-
ified the contract such that the contract no longer
“requ i red ” the tasks and the con tractor co u l d
arguably then bill those tasks to IR&D. However,
the court cautioned that it was unclear whether the
written contract would support this argument and
the extent and nature of Martin Marietta’s notice to
the Government raised disputed factual issues.

According to the court, Martin Marietta’s notice
might also negate any contention that the company
intended to deceive the Government. However,
such finding would be irrelevant for purposes of
establishing a civil FCA violation since deception is
not an element. Therefore, “[a] contractor who
tells a government contracting officer that a claim
is false still violates the statute when the false claim
is submitted.”

Relator May Participate Only With
Regard to FCA Counts

The court agreed with Martin Marietta that the
relator could participate only with regard to the
FCA counts and had no standing as to the other
counts (bre ach of con tract and com m on law )
brought by the Government. The court stated that
the altern a te rem edy provi s i on at 31 U. S . C .
§3730(c)(5), cited by the relator, “permits contin-
ued recovery by the relator if the Government
chooses to pursue the false claim in another forum.
However, it does not cover additional counts raised
by the Government as part of an action in the same
forum in which the [FCA] counts are brought.”
The court noted that, in practice, the restriction on
the relator’s participation might not have any pro-
cedural effect because of the overlapping nature of
the FCA counts and the other counts.

Sep a ra te Op i n i on Holds that Ma rti n
Ma ri etta Wa ived At torn ey - Cl i ent Privi l ege

In a separate opinion, issued on May 16, 1995, the

district court held that Martin Marietta had waived
its attorney-client privilege covering all contempo-
raneous in-house counsel advice regarding the use
of the IR&D funds for SLAT-related work when,
du ring set t l em ent nego ti a ti on s , a let ter to the
Government from Martin Marietta stated that the
company believed such use was proper based on
“contemporaneous” legal advice. The court relied
on a 1988 Fourth Circuit decision (also involving
Martin Marietta) which held that the disclosure of
otherwise confidential information during a settle-
m ent con feren ce can waive the attorn ey - cl i en t
privilege, and such a disclosure to any party can
waive the privilege as to all parties.

In this case, the district court ruled that waiver can
occur even when the disclosing party does not
quote from the otherwise protected communica-
tion; a summary, paraphrase, or clear reference to
the substance of the communication is sufficient to
waive the privilege. The court interpreted the ear-
lier Fourth Circuit ruling as mandating a broad
subject matter waiver. Thus, it concluded that
Ma rtin Ma ri etta had waived its privi l ege wi t h
respect to all advice of counsel given while the
company was claiming SLAT work as IR&D.

Medicare Intermediary
Reimbursement Determinations

U.S. v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of
Alabama, Order, No. CV93-P-01508-S
(N.D.Ala. April 28, 1995)

An Alabama district court held that Section
405(h) of the Social Security Act jurisdic-
tionally barred a qui tam lawsuit alleging
that a fiscal intermediary for Medicare Part
A reimbursed hospitals for certain expenses
that were not reimbursable under the
Medicare program.

The rel a tor, Frank Body, was a form er sen i or audi-
tor for Blue Cro s s / Blue Shield of Al a b a m a
( B C B S A ) . As a fiscal interm ed i a ry for the He a l t h
Ca re Financing Ad m i n i s tra ti on (HCFA ) , B C B S A
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revi ewed Med i c a re Pa rt A hospital cost reports to
determine wh et h er the costs were “re a s on a ble and
n ece s s a ry ” and issu ed Med i c a re paym ents to
provi ders based on these audits. While em p l oyed by
B C B S A , Body determ i n ed that certain intere s t
ex penses in hospital cost reports were not “re a s on-
a ble and nece s s a ry ” and therefore should be disal-
l owed . BCBSA revers ed Body ’s determ i n a ti on ,
t h ereby all owing Med i c a re rei m bu rs em en t . Body
su b s equ en t ly filed a qui tam acti on ch a r ging BCBSA
with making, or causing to be made , false cl a i m s .

Social Security Act Bars FCA Claim that
Resembles a Benefits Dispute

Ci ting Wilkins v. Su ll iva n, 715 F.2d 282, 287 (7th
Ci r. 1 9 8 9 ) , for the propo s i ti on that “42 U. S . C . s ec-
ti on 405(h) provi des that any  ‘claim arising under ’
the Med i c a re program must be bro u ght exclu s ively
u n der secti on 405(g),” the distri ct co u rt asserted
that judicial revi ew is not perm i s s i ble of cl a i m s
“a rising under or inex tri c a bly intert wi n ed with a
determ i n a ti on of ben efits under Med i c a re .”
Fu rt h er, in Bod i m etric Health Servi ce s , In c . v. Aetn a
L i fe and Ca su a l ty, 903 F.2d 480 (7th Ci r. 1 9 9 0 ) , t h e
7th Ci rcuit found that “ch a ll en ges to the amount of
ben efits to be paid under Med i c a re arise under the
Act and are not su bj ect to judicial revi ew, wh i l e
ch a ll en ges to the reg u l a tory sch eme under wh i ch
the amount of ben efits is calculated do not ari s e
u n der the Act and are su bj ect to judicial revi ew.”

In Bod i m etric v. Aetn a, the provi der Bod i m etric had
a ll eged that Aetn a , as fiscal interm ed i a ry, i m proper-
ly den i ed certain rei m bu rs em ent claims made by
Bod i m etric under the Med i c a re Act . The 7th Ci rc u i t
h eld that the statute’s exclu s ive revi ew mech a n i s m
b a rred Bod i m etric from seeking rel i ef in federa l
co u rt . In the case at hand, the distri ct co u rt fo u n d
that it did not have su bj ect matter ju ri s d i cti on
“because Rel a tor ’s Complaint more cl o s ely re s em-
bles a determ i n a ti on of ben efits dispute with an of f i-
cer or em p l oyee of the Un i ted State s .”

The distri ct co u rt recogn i zed that Bod i m etri c d i d
not invo lve a ch a ll en ge of an interm ed i a ry ’s acti on s
u n der the FCA, but stated that nei t h er side had cited
“con tro lling precedent that direct ly ad d resses the
a bi l i ty of a Rel a tor to pursue rel i ef u n der the [FCA]
a gainst a fiscal interm ed i a ry for all egedly making

false or fra u du l ent rei m bu rs em ent determ i n a ti on s
in light of Secti on 405(h).” The co u rt su gge s ted that
su ch a FCA acti on may be maintainable “to the
ex tent the complaint sought red ress for paym en t s
that were false — paym ent for ph a n tom servi ce s
and the like — because su ch paym ents would not
a rise under the Med i c a re Act .” However, the co u rt
found that the complaint here was “s i gn i f i c a n t ly
d i s ti n ct .” The rel a tor did not all ege that BCBSA did
not actu a lly make ben efit determ i n a ti ons or that the
provi ders were rei m bu rs ed for servi ces not actu a lly
perform ed ; ra t h er, he “d i s p utes the su b s t a n ce of
B C B S A’s rei m bu rs em ent determ i n a ti ons as an of f i-
cer or em p l oyee of the Un i ted State s .”

The district court rejected the relator’s argument
that the FCA contained an independent grant of
subject matter jurisdiction. The court concluded
that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction “by opera-
tion of Section 405(h) under the facts of this case
and in the absence of an independent grant of
jurisdiction.”

Fiscal Intermediary Still Accountable

The court noted that “precluding judicial review of
BCBSA’s actions as a fiscal intermediary under the
[FCA] does not by any measure mean that BCBSA
is completely unaccountable in its role as fiscal
intermediary.” For example, HCFA may review
B C B S A’s perform a n ce , and the Dep a rtm ent of
Health and Human Services can terminate its con-
tract with BCBSA. Lastly, without explanation, the
co u rt su gge s ted that “it would appear that 28
U.S.C. Section 1345 [granting district courts origi-
nal jurisdiction of all civil actions commenced by
the U.S., except as otherwise provided by Act of
Congress] would confer a district court with sub-
ject matter jurisdiction over a [FCA] complaint
d i rect ly com m en ced by the Un i ted State s
G overn m ent pursuant to 31 U. S . C . Secti on
3730(a), even in the context of a dispute over a fis-
cal intermediary’s reimbursement determinations.”
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Filed Rate Doctrine

U.S. ex rel. Falsetti et al. v. Southern
Bell Telephone, Order Denying
Defendant’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment, No. 91-40267-WS
(N.D.Fla. Apr. 7, 1995)

The “filed rate doctrine,” which renders pub-
lished rates unassailable by ratepayers in
certain regulated industries, does not bar a
qui tam action against a telephone company,
according to a Florida district court. The
court denied Southern Bell’s motion for
partial summary judgment, ruling that the
filed rate doctrine “has no application
where, as here, the relators seek nothing
more than vindication of the Government’s
right not to be presented with false or fraud-
ulent claims for payment.”

Frank Falsetti and Nancy D’Alessio, both former
employees of Southern Bell,alleged that the compa-
ny falsified records regarding phone services for
which the Government was billed. As a result,
according to the relators, Southern Bell submitted
i n f l a ted bi lls and/or insu f f i c i ent refunds to the
Government.

Southern Bell argued that the filed rate doctrine
b a rred the acti on because the bi lling at issu e
involved regulated and published rates. The filed
rate doctrine emerges from a line of cases applying
the Interstate Commerce Act to regulated industries.
Application of the doctrine is premised on the
statute’s prohibition against charging or receiving
ra tes different from the ra tes filed wi t h , a n d
approved by, a governing regulatory agency. The
doctrine protects against judicial intervention in a
uniform rate-making process that was specifically
assigned to a regulatory agency. Southern Bell,
whose tel eph one servi ces are reg u l a ted by the
Florida Public Service Commission (FPSC), argued
that the qui tam case improperly intruded upon the
exclusive jurisdiction of the FPSC.

The district court rejected the telephone company’s
argument, noting that the company’s filed rates
were not at issue:

“ If the rel a tors are able to prove what they all ege ,t h a t
So ut h ern Bell knowi n gly su bm i t ted bi lls to the gov-
ern m ent for servi ces that were not, in fact , ren dered ,
d a m a ges — if a ny — wi ll be determ i n ed by com p a r-
ing the amounts the govern m ent should have paid
h ad the records been truthful with the amounts the
govern m ent did pay as a re sult of the falsified
record s . This calculati on does not requ i re , n or do
the rel a tors ask, that the co u rt revi ew the ra tes on file
with the FPSC. Th ere has been no su gge s ti on that
the govern m ent — for wh a tever re a s on — ought to
h ave paid som ething other than the filed ra tes for the
s ervi ces they received from So ut h ern Bell . All
ra tep ayers , i n cluding the govern m en t , wi ll con ti nu e
to be su bj ect to the same filed ra tes no matter the
o utcome of this case.”

Defense Secretary’s Participation in
Regulatory Proceeding Does Not
Compromise Action Under the Act

In a sep a ra te argumen t , So ut h ern Bell also con ten ded
that the Govern m ent had com prom i s ed and set t l ed
the claims by parti c i p a ting in a FPSC set t l em en t . The
court noted that while Southern Bell was engaged in
a variety of proceedings before the FPSC which were
ultimately settled, the U.S. Department of Justice
was not in any manner involved in those proceed-
ings. While the Secretary of Defense had  inter-
vened in one of the FPSC proceedings, the court
found that such intervention had nothing to do
with claims under the FCA. Moreover, there was no
evidence to suggest that the Defense Secretary had
a ut h ori ty to assume the exclu s ive ri ght of t h e
Attorney General to release a party from liability
under the Act.



U.S. ex rel. Rabushka v. Crane and CF&I
Steel Corp. (ED MO No. 91-420-C-7)

In June 1995, it was reported that the U. S . Su prem e
Co u rt decl i n ed to revi ew an 8th Ci rcuit dec i s i on
holding that the §3730(e)(4) public discl o su re bar
did not app ly in this case. Ra bushka had all eged that
Crane def ra u ded the U. S . by spinning of f its CF&I
S teel Corp. su b s i d i a ry in an ef fort to avoid pen s i on
obl i ga ti on s . CF&I did not disclose the full ex tent of
its pen s i on liabi l i ties to the Pen s i on Ben ef i t
Gu a ra n ty Corpora ti on (PBGC). Af ter the com p a ny
went bankru pt , PBGC had to take over CF&I’s pen-
s i on fund, wh i ch was underf u n ded by $270 mill i on .
By declining to revi ew the case, the Su preme Co u rt
l et stand the 8th Ci rc u i t’s holding that the public dis-
cl o su re of C F & I ’s pen s i on fund probl ems in news-
p a pers and by corpora te co u n s el at meeti n gs did not
con s ti tute “a ll ega ti ons or tra n s acti on s” of f ra u d
within the meaning of the public discl o su re bar
because the discl o s ed inform a ti on did not ex po s e
the essen tial el em ents of the fra u d . Rex Ca rr of Ca rr,
Korei n , Ti ll ery, Ku n i n , Mon try & Glass (St. Lo u i s ,
MO) repre s en ted the rel a tor.

U.S. ex rel. Eitel v. Evergreen
International Airlines, Inc. et al. (WD
WA No. C94-1017Z)

In April 1995, in an issue of f i rst impre s s i on , a
Wa s h i n g ton distri ct co u rt ru l ed that the U. S . Po s t a l
Servi ce is a federal agency pro tected by the FCA.
Al t h o u gh other FCA cases have invo lved false cl a i m s
a gainst the Postal Servi ce , this particular issue was
a pp a ren t ly not liti ga ted in those cases. Ei tel had filed
his suit in 1994 all eging that the defendants con-
s p i red in a fra u du l ent sch eme to overch a r ge the
Postal Servi ce by more than $50 mill i on . The rel a tor
was repre s en ted by Steve W. Berman and Jef f rey T.
S prung of Ha gens & Berman (Se a t t l e , WA ) .

The case was su b s equ en t ly dismissed on public dis-
cl o su re gro u n d s . ( See “ False Claims Act and Q u i
Ta m Dec i s i on s” a bove in this issu e . )

U.S. ex rel. Pitt and Ferguson v. FD
Services, Inc.; Fluor Daniel, Inc. (D SC
No. 94-2496)

For the first time since enactment of the 1986 False
Claims Amendments Act, DOJ formally presented
its position that the qui tam provisions are consti-
tutional. In DOJ’s April 1995 brief filed with the
4th Circuit, the Attorney General explicitly rejected
the con tra ry vi ew adva n ced by an As s i s t a n t
Attorney General in a 1989 memorandum relied
upon by the defendants. The Attorney General’s
position comports with the unanimous view of the
federal courts that have considered the constitu-
tionality issue, including the 9th, 6th, and 2nd
Circuits. The relators had sued FD Services and its
parent, Fluor Daniel, Inc., for fraud in contracts to
repair Navy facilities in Charleston, South Carolina
fo ll owing Hu rricane Hu go. The Govern m en t
declined to intervene in the suit. Although several
of the counts as well as defendant Fluor Daniel, Inc.
were dismissed by the district court, in May 1994 a
jury found that  FD Services had filed four false
claims and awarded $2 million to the Government.
The Govern m ent was repre s en ted by Do u gl a s
Letter, Appellate Litigation Counsel; and Michael
Robi n s on , At torn ey, Appell a te Staff, DOJ Civi l
Division.
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Fighting Fraud:
The Next Frontier

Former Government Lawyers
Answer Qui Tam’s Call

A new breed of former government lawyers have
turned to qui tam as a natural extension of their
prosecutorial work. Their path is unusual, as
government attorneys have typically looked to
the private defense bar when making a career
move. In particular, the resources and economic
security of large corporate firms have proved dif-
ficult to pass up. Yet as the experiences of those
who have undertaken relator representation indi-
cate, with careful planning and a bit of daring, a
private qui tam practice can be an attractive
option as well.

A former Assistant U.S. Attorney in Baltimore,
Christopher Mead decided to apply his skills as a
white collar criminal prosecutor to private prac-
tice. Mead currently handles plaintiff qui tam
cases at the Washington, D.C. firm of London &
Mead, and appreciates the opportunity to repre-
sent relators. “It’s a chance to do right. You can
feel good about the work you can do.” For the
former AUSA, the practical advantages are obvi-
ous: “In terms of dealing with the Government,
being a qui tam lawyer is far better than being a
defense lawyer.”

Like Mead, Eric Havian and Stephen Meagher
also chose to pursue a qui tam practice after leav-
ing their prosecutor posts in the San Francisco
U.S. Attorney’s Office last year. With their back-
ground in defense procurement and health care,
knowledge of fraud proceedings, and profession-
al contacts, together the two were well situated to
open the west coast branch of the qui tam firm
Phillips & Cohen.

By most accounts, the move to qui tam does not
reflect so much discontent with the Government
as a desire to try something new. According to
Havian and Meagher, over time working as a
pro s ec utor can become incre a s i n gly ro uti n e .
Says Havian: “You win a lot. After a while, you
feel the job is second nature.” This sense of
already having been down the same road, cou-
pled with the bureaucratic and financial con-
straints of government service, conspire to raise
the question: Where do I go from here?

A mix of professional and philosophical consid-
erations can shape the decision. For Havian,
“After working all those years as a prosecutor on
the affirmative side where you’re driving the
action, to turn around and work on the defense
side of a civil case seemed too passive a role, or
maybe actively obstructionist.” Having methodi-
cally ruled out alternatives, he arrived at qui tam,
which would allow him to continue the kind of
work he had been doing amidst new demands in
the private sector.

To be su re , opportu n i ties wi ll exist so long as
f raud is ra m p a n t . According to the Dep a rtm en t
of Ju s ti ce , in fiscal year 1994 alone qui tam acti on s
acco u n ted for $378 mill i on , or more than on e
t h i rd of the Govern m en t’s overa ll recoveries from
c ivil fraud set t l em ents and ju d gm en t s . That fig-
u re more than do u bles the previous ye a r ’s to t a l .

For qui tam l aw yers , the ch a n ce to ven tu re into new
terri tory holds mu ch appe a l . In ad d i ti on to noto-
rious Defense Dep a rtm ent and Med i c a re vi o l a-
ti on s , t h ere is the ch a ll en ge of ex posing fraud in
a reas receiving less atten ti on su ch as edu c a ti on ,s c i-
en tific re s e a rch , h o u s i n g, tra n s port a ti on , em er-
gency rel i ef , c u s tom s , a gri c u l tu re , F DA , and the
envi ron m en t . Beyond the va ri ety, a t torn eys are
d rawn to the po ten tial impact of priva te initi a tive s .
As Wi lliam Ha rdy, form er Bra n ch Ch i ef of t h e
Criminal Fraud Secti on at DO J, ob s erve s , “ If yo u
l ook at the best cases being filed in the area of wh i te
co llar cri m e ,m a ny are derived from qui tam c a s e s .”
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Instant Credibility ... and Frustrations

While qui tam seems a natural fit for former gov-
ernment litigators experienced in fraud cases,the
transition is not without its frustrations. Former
criminal prosecutors, for example, miss access to
potent investigative resources such as search war-
rants and grand jury subpoenas. As Christopher
Mead laments,“I no longer have the fear of God
behind me.”

Stephen Meagher echoes that sentiment, remark-
ing that while “it’s tempting to think of yourself
as an Assistant, ... there’s a limit to what you can
do. You’ve lost a fair amount of authority.” Now
Meagher must persuade rather than take direct
action. Almost nostalgically, he describes the
temptation of considering himself “one of the
te a m” working to adva n ce the Govern m en t’s
interests. Yet notwithstanding allied interests,
there is sometimes a notable change in percep-
tion on the part of government lawyers toward
their former colleagues. Says Meagher: “People
in the Justice Department treat you once you
h ave left with an ad ded level of su s p i c i on .
There’s a certain sense of having left the fold.”

On balance, however, the inevitable kinks in the
transition are offset by the insights afforded by
prior government service. In such a novel area,
the substantive and
procedu ral ex per-
tise ga i n ed from
d i recting govern-
m ent fraud liti ga-
ti on can po s i ti on
former prosecutors
as among the most
well su i ted to
undertake qui tam
actions.

The ben efits are
cert a i n ly app a ren t
to Janet Goldstein,
who served as a
federal pro s ec utor
in Los Angeles for
ten ye a rs before

moving to a qui tam practice in 1989. According
to Goldstein, who now has her own qui tam law
office and consulting practice in Maryland, “You
have instant credibility with clients as a former
pro s ec utor wh o’s actu a lly done cases for the
Government.” Goldstein finds she has greater
credibility with former government colleagues as
well. In keeping with the False Claims Act’s
design of a partnership between private and pub-
lic attorneys, she thinks she has had more input
in government prosecutions than if she had not
h a n dl ed fraud cases in the U. S . At torn ey ’s Office .
As Goldstein ex p l a i n s : “I know how to el i c i t
i n form a ti on that’s hel pful to the pro s ec uti on . A
pers on who was never a criminal pro s ec utor
would not play su ch a major ro l e .” S ti ll ,l i ke other
form er govern m ent law yers , she cites the fru s tra-
ti ons of no lon ger “c a lling all the shots, k n owi n g
a ll the inform a ti on , and making all the dec i s i on s .”

Robert Vogel, a solo practitioner in Washington,
D.C. and former trial attorney in the Fraud
Section of the DOJ Civil Division Commercial
Litigation Branch, points to the advantages of
entering the field having already screened hun-
dreds of False Claims Act cases. “Basically, I knew
how to tell a good one from a bad one, and I
knew the issues.... Most people don’t, and they’re
headed for real trouble.”
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William Hardy, who represents both qui tam
plaintiffs and defendants at Washington, D.C.’s
Kleinfeld, Kaplan and Becker, also stresses the
fundamentals. “The important thing is to write a
good complaint and relator statement so people
understand what is at issue. The benefit I can
bring is that I can write something that they’ll
understand.” For the longtime prosecutor, old
habits die hard. “My complaints look like indict-
ments,” Hardy warns.

In the opinion of Stephen Meagher, “The main
thing is to understand what it takes to persuade
the Government to take a case.” As a former
AUSA, Meagher is familiar with the evidence and
elements required. He also has found that he is
more alert to probable defenses.

Indeed, Eric Havian notes the importance of
identifying any holes in the case when working
with the government lawyers. Acknowledging
the shift in roles, Havian is careful to add: “We
want to give the benefit of what we know and at
the same time not suggest that we run the case. ...
We want to suggest to them: ‘We were sitting
where you were not long ago. We can help you.’”
In his experience,“When you approach them that
way, generally you get a good response.”

Rel a ti ons bet ween qui tam co u n s el and the
Justice Department can at times be tense, howev-
er. Having litigated some of the most protracted
acti ons invo lving defense con tractors , Ja n et
G o l d s tein has wi tn e s s ed the stra i n . Says
Goldstein: “I didn’t anticipate the hostility I’ve
encountered from some DOJ lawyers to some qui
tam plaintiff lawyers. That was a surprise, that
there would be rivalry and hostility and a desire
to exclude qui tam attorneys as much as possible
as opposed to include.” Even in the best of rela-
tionships, she recognizes the “peculiar dynamic”
of qui tam litigation whereby private attorneys,
working side by side with government lawyers,
can ultimately share in the award.

While attitudes may be changing as the Justice
Department experiences more productive part-
nerships and successful qui tam actions, some
observers find it puzzling that the former govern-

ment attorneys have been viewed in a guarded
fashion. According to Goldstein, given the risks
and incentives that govern a qui tam practice,
experienced lawyers are likely to bring only the
strongest cases and will work to develop them as
fully as possible. From the larger perspective,she
adds, this is good for the Government and good
for the taxpayer.

Virtue and Risk 

Though repeatedly under fire from defendants,
the amended False Claims Act has withstood
both legal and legislative attacks. And as the rise
in successful actions indicates, qui tam is taking
hold with the public.

Yet de s p i te the su ccess stori e s , the re a l i ties of a q u i
t a m practi ce are not to be assu m ed ligh t ly. Th ere
can be a disqu i eting lack of con tro l , both in proce s s
and outcom e . As Robert Vogel unders core s : “Yo u
can almost take nothing for gra n ted . L i ti ga ti on is
very ri s ky at all ti m e s .” In parti c u l a r,Vogel has been
“a b s o lutely floored ” by certain co u rt op i n i ons in
the intri c a te area of p u blic discl o su re .

As has been often demonstrated, qui tam litiga-
ti on can be fierce , l en g t hy, and ex pen s ive .
Whether a suit will develop into a consuming
multi-year struggle is difficult to predict at the
o ut s et . And the natu re of con ti n gency fee
arrangements brings its own pressures. From the
standpoint of Chris Mead, who is new to the
field, “The payoff and pipeline is years away.”
Throughout the transition and thereafter, the
threshold matter of how even to attract cases can
weigh heavily.

Given all the variables and corresponding uncer-
tainty, leaving the Government to pursue qui tam
exclusively is in many instances not feasible. It
may therefore be necessary at first to incorporate
qui tam as part of a broader practice, either in
one’s own office or as a member of a firm. As Bill
Hardy wryly advises,“It’s a good idea to have dif-
ferent ways of accumulating money.”

Accordingly, Rob Vogel offers those considering
the move to private qui tam practice the same
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advice he gives to clients: “Don’t depend on it. It
may or may not happen.” Even after five years as
a solo practitioner and some major False Claims
Act recoveries,Vogel candidly admits,“Whether a
client walks into your door or someone else’s is a
matter of luck.”

Nevertheless, Mead and his fellow relator counsel
welcome “all the benefits and virtues” of qui tam.
Along with the professional challenges, the per-
s onal sati s f acti on is a large draw. As Ja n et
Goldstein describes: “If you can make a go of it,
it’s an incredibly rewarding field. You feel like
you’re wearing a good guy hat representing peo-
ple who are there to do the right thing. You can
change their lives.”

At the very least,as Stephen Meagher tells,“It’s an
adventure.”

27



U.S. v. Pratt & Whitney Group of United
Technologies Corporation Inc. (SD FL No.
__)

In April 1995, the Government filed suit against
Pratt & Whitney Group of United Technologies
Corporation Inc. for conspiring with former Israeli
Air Force Brigadier General Rami Dotan to fraud-
ulently use $10 million in U.S. military aid for
u n a ut h ori zed purpo s e s . According to the
Government, $4.4 million was improperly diverted
to shell companies, with hundreds of thousands of
dollars going into the personal bank accounts of
two of the Brigadier General’s associates. Pratt &
Whitney’s LAVI aircraft engine contract with Israel
was financed under DOD’s Foreign Military Sales
Credit Program.

According to DOJ, Pratt & Whitney, Dotan, and his
associates entered into a secret side deal to use the
$10 million as “play money” for the Israeli Air
Force. When the Israeli Government amended and
reinstated the engine contract in 1988 after cancel-
ing the LAVI aircraft program the year before, Pratt
& Whitney falsely represented in its contract with
Israel that there were no such side deals. To collect
the money, the contractor falsified purchase orders
and invoices for engine work that had not been
perform ed . DOJ furt h er all eged that Pratt &
Whitney paid some of the set aside money to two
U.S. companies created to funnel funds to an Israeli
subcontractor for work that would not have been
eligible for U.S. financing.

U.S. ex rel. Thistlethwaite v. Dowty
Woodville Polymer Limited et al. (SD NY
94 Civ. 3521)

In April 1995, DOJ intervened in this qui tam suit
alleging $20 million in overcharges for labor and
material costs relating to wing slot seals for F-111
and B1-B aircraft. As part of the ten year scheme,
Dowty Woodville Polymer Limited allegedly sub-
mitted fraudulent proposals and certifications to
the Air Force. The company is a subsidiary of the
British engineering and aerospace group TI. The

rel a tor, a form er business manager at Dowty
Woodville Polymer, filed the suit in 1994. Assistant
U.S. Attorney Gideon A. Schor is handling the case
for the Government.

U.S. ex rel. Minnesota Association of
Nurse Anesthetists v. Allina Health
System Corp. et al. (D MN No. 3-94-1622)

In May 1995, a qui tam suit against the Allina He a l t h
Sys tem Corp. , t wo of its hospitals (Un i ty and
Merc y ) , S t . Cloud Ho s p i t a l , and more than two
dozen anesthesiologists was unsealed . The lawsu i t ,
f i l ed in Decem ber 1994 by the Mi n n e s o t a
As s oc i a ti on of Nu rse An e s t h eti s t s , a ll eges that, wi t h
the knowl ed ge and assistance of the defendant hos-
p i t a l s , the defendant anesthesiologists have bi ll ed
Med i c a re for servi ces wh i ch they ei t h er did not per-
form or wh i ch did not qualify for rei m bu rs em en t .
S pec i f i c a lly, the anesthesiologists have ro uti n ely
bi ll ed Med i c a re for pers onal perform a n ce of proce-
du res in wh i ch they were not con ti nu o u s ly invo lved
or pre s en t . Fu rt h er, t h ey have bi ll ed for med i c a l
d i recti on of procedu res de s p i te not parti c i p a ting in
the most demanding procedu res of the anesthesia
p l a n , not being phys i c a lly pre s ent and ava i l a ble for
em er gen c i e s , or not being in the opera ting room or
the hospital for a porti on of the procedu re . Th e
complaint all eges that as many as 28,000 false or
f ra u du l ent claims were su bm i t ted over six ye a rs and
s eeks more than $280 mill i on in pen a l ti e s , d a m a ge s ,
and co s t s . The Govern m ent has decl i n ed interven-
ti on in this acti on .

U.S. v. Motion Medical, Inc. and Wood
(SD OH No. C2-95-529) and U.S. v.
Freedom Medical, Inc. et al. (SD OH No.
C2-95-530)

In May 1995, the Government filed suit against
Motion Medical, Inc. and Freedom Medical, Inc.,
a ll eging fra u du l ent bi lling for du ra ble med i c a l
equipment. According to the complaints, the com-
panies billed for equipment that was not ordered
by a physician, was not medically necessary, was in
excess of patients’ needs, was billed and not deliv-
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ered, and for which there was no obligation to pay.
The lawsuits were filed on behalf of CHAMPUS,
the Mail Ha n dl ers Ben efit Plan, and the
G overn m ent Employees Health As s oc i a ti on .
Assistant U.S. Attorney Mark T. D’Alessandro is
handling the cases.

As part of a coord i n a ted ef fort bet ween the
Southern District of Ohio Health Care Task Force
and the Federal Trade Commission, the FTC also
filed suit in Columbus,Ohio and Charleston, South
Carolina to stop the defendants’ fraudulent mar-
keting practices. Motions for temporary restrain-
ing orders were granted. According to the FTC, the
cases mark the first time the Commission has
brought charges against entities for victimizing
consumers in order to commit a fraud against
health insurers.
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U.S. ex rel. Roy v. Anthony et al. (SD OH
No. C-1-93-0559)

In March 1995, nine physicians and their medical
i m a ging corpora ti ons agreed to pay the
Government $1.52 million to settle this qui tam
suit with relator Sheila Roy. The lawsuit alleged
improper Medicare and Medicaid referrals to diag-
nostic firms in which the doctors had a financial
interest. Ms. Roy, a former employee at one of the
defendant firm s , f i l ed the suit in 1993. Th e
Government did not intervene in the action. The
relator’s share was 29 percent or $440,800. James
Helmer, Ann Lugbill, and Paul Martins of Helmer,
Lugbill, Martins & Neff (Cincinnati, OH) repre-
sented the relator.

U.S. ex rel. Schenherr v. U.S. HomeCare
Corporation (D MD No. S-93-3720)

In April 1995, U.S. HomeCare Corporation agreed
to pay $650,000 to settle this qui tam suit with the
G overn m ent and rel a tor Tina Sch en h err. M s .
Schenherr brought the suit in 1993, alleging the
su bm i s s i on of false Med i c a re cl a i m s . Th e
Government’s investigation focused on the NY-
based firm’s Miami operations, and revealed that
company records from May 1993 to October 1993
contained forged nurses’ signatures, false medical
i n form a ti on , and canned nu rsing note s . U. S .
HomeCare was allegedly aware that its documenta-
tion was inadequate but still submitted claims for
reimbursement. Ms. Schenherr is a former manag-
er in the company’s Fort Lauderdale office. The
relator’s share was 19 percent or $123,500. Robert
L. Vogel (Washington, D.C.) was the relator’s coun-
sel. The Government was represented by Assistant
U. S . At torn ey Ka t h l een Mc Dermott and Sa ra
Strauss of the DOJ Civil Division.

U.S. ex rel. Brooks v. Pineville
Community Hospital Association, Inc. et
al. (ED KY No. 92-286) 

In April 1995, P i n evi lle Com mu n i ty Ho s p i t a l
Association, Inc. and two doctors agreed to pay

$2.5 million to settle this qui tam suit with the
Government and relator J. Hilton Brooks. The law-
suit alleged fraudulent billing over a ten year peri-
od for work never performed. According to an
audit report, clerks used rubber stamps of doctors’
signatures, and physicians billed as hospital visits
work actually performed by nurses. The report also
stated that doctors billed for hospital admissions
services performed by emergency room physicians.
Dr. Brooks filed the suit in 1992 while on staff at
Pineville Hospital. The Government did not ini-
tially join in the case, but intervened in April of
1995 just prior to settlement. The settlement was
described as the largest in the history of Kentucky’s
Medicaid program.

As part of the settlement, Pineville agreed to con-
duct a training program for employees in Medicare
and Medicaid reimbursement and billing. The
relator’s share was 25 percent. Dr. Brooks was rep-
resented by Thomas W. Miller (Lexington, KY).
Assistant U.S. Attorney David P. Grise and DOJ
Trial Attorney Patricia L. Hanower represented the
Government.

U.S. ex rel. Murphy and McMahon v.
Henry M. Jackson Foundation (D MD
No. __)

In April 1995, DOJ announced that the Hen ry M.
Jack s on Fo u n d a ti on for the Adva n cem ent of
Mi l i t a ry Medicine wi ll pay the Govern m ent $ 4 5 , 9 2 0
to settle this qui tam su i t . Mu rphy, a form er
Fo u n d a ti on em p l oyee , and Mc Ma h on , who form er-
ly worked for the Na ti onal In s ti tutes of He a l t h ,
a ll eged in their 1994 suit that the Fo u n d a ti on
ch a r ged the Govern m ent for labor, tra i n i n g, a n d
re s e a rch costs that were not covered under its con-
tract with NIH for rad i o l ogy servi ce s . Th e
Fo u n d a ti on was cre a ted by Con gress in 1983 to carry
o ut medical re s e a rch and edu c a ti on proj ects in
coopera ti on with the Un i form ed Servi ces Un ivers i ty.
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U.S. ex rel. Thornton v. Science
Applications International Corporation,
AlliedSignal Technical Services
Corporation, and Lloyd Electric
Company Inc.

In May 1995, DOJ announced that three govern-
ment contractors will pay a total of $230,000 to set-
tle allegations that they improperly tested electrical
cables installed at a U.S. Treasury facility under
construction in Fort Worth, Texas. According to
DOJ, the settlement will resolve a qui tam suit filed
by Peter Thornton, a former employee of Science
App l i c a ti ons In tern a ti onal Corpora ti on (SAIC),
the prime contractor on the project. Along with
SAIC, two subcontractors were included in the suit
for allegedly falsifying the testing of certain power
c a bles du ring con s tru cti on of the We s tern
Currency Production Facility.

U.S. ex rel. Fletcher v. Metpath, Inc. (D
MD No. N-93-1069)

In May 1995, Corning Clinical Laboratories Inc.,
f/k/a Metpath Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Corning Life Scien ces In c . , a greed to pay the
Government $8.6 million to settle this qui tam suit
brought by Terry Fletcher in 1993. Metpath, one of
the country’s largest clinical laboratories, allegedly
submitted false claims for laboratory tests not per-
formed to Medicare, Medicaid, and other federally-
assisted programs. The relator was formerly a ser-
vice representative at Metpath’s Rockville, MD lab.

According to the Govern m en t’s inve s ti ga ti on ,
Metpath systematically billed for certain laboratory
tests that were not completely or successfully per-
formed because of insufficient, deficient or inade-
quate samples, or invalid or unreliable test results.
The billing practices allegedly occurred at nine
regional labs from 1988 to 1993 and were known to
management officials since 1992. The relator’s
share was $1.29 million. J. Stephen Simms of
Greber & Simms and Robin Page West (Baltimore,
MD) repre s en ted the rel a tor. Assistant U. S .
Attorney Kathleen McDermott handled the case for
the Government.

U.S. ex rel. Berge v. The Board of Trustees
of the University of Alabama et al.
(D MD No. N-93-158)

In May 1995, a federal ju d ge in Ba l ti m ore ordered
the Un ivers i ty of Alabama to pay the Govern m en t
$1.66 mill i on for false claims in con n ecti on wi t h
re s e a rch grants from the Na ti onal In s ti tutes of
He a l t h . A ju ry had found that the Un ivers i ty and
t h ree of its scien tists vi o l a ted the False Claims Act .
The qui tam rel a tor, D r. Pa m ela Ber ge , a ll eged that
the re s e a rch ers su bm i t ted grant proposals and
progress reports to NIH in wh i ch they falsely repre-
s en ted re s e a rch propo s a l s , d a t a , m et h odo l ogi e s ,
re su l t s , and work produ ct as their own . In fact , t h e
work was done by Ber ge while pursuing her doctor-
a te at Al a b a m a . The Govern m ent did not interven e
in the acti on . The rel a tor ’s share was reportedly 30
percent or $498,000. Al ex a n der Bok of D a n gel &
Fine (Bo s ton , MA) repre s en ted the rel a tor.

U.S. ex rel. Coffman v. SMTEK, Inc. et al.
(CD CA No. 934051 WMB (Sx))

In May 1995, DOJ announced that SMTEK, Inc.
paid $200,000 to settle this qui tam suit with the
Government and relator David Coffman. The
aerospace company allegedly falsely stated it could
test space station components when it did not have
that capability. After receiving a $10 million sub-
contract in 1990 from the National Aeronautics
and Space Administration, SMTEK said it would
have to incur additional costs to develop the neces-
sary capability. The Government absorbed the
co s t s . M r. Coffman is a form er em p l oyee of
SMTEK. The relator’s share was $35,000. The rela-
tor was represented by Noble and Pommer, PLC
(Ventura, CA). The Government was represented
by Stanley E. Alderson of the DOJ Civil Division.

U.S. ex rel. Siller v. Becton Dickinson &
Co. (D MD  No. S-91-33)

In June 1995, Becton Dickinson & Co. agreed to
pay $3.3 million to settle this qui tam suit with the
G overn m ent and rel a tor David Si ll er. Becton
Dickinson allegedly overcharged the Department
of Veterans Affairs for medical equipment to be
used for microbiological tests. Although required
to disclose accurate, current, and complete infor-
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mation about prices and discounts given to com-
mercial customers, the company failed to tell the
Government it had granted discounts higher than
those disclosed during contract negotiations. Mr.
Siller, an employee of Scientific Supply Inc., a for-
m er distri butor of Becton Di ck i n s on produ ct s ,
originally filed the suit in 1991. The relator’s share
was 17 percent or $561,000. Robert L. Vogel
(Wa s h i n g ton , D.C.) repre s en ted the rel a tor.
Michael C. Theis of the DOJ Civil Division repre-
sented the Government.

U.S. ex rel. Fallon et al. v. Accudyne Corp.
and Alliant Techsystems, Inc. (WD WI
No. 93-C-801-S)

In June 1995, Alliant Techsystems, Inc. agreed to
pay the Government $12 million to settle this qui
t a m suit bro u ght by five indivi duals and the
Atlantic States Legal Foundation, a nonprofit envi-
ronmental foundation. The lawsuit involved a $34
m i ll i on con tract bet ween the U. S . Army and
Accudyne Corp., now owned by Alliant, for the
production of electronic parts for the Modular
Pack Mine Sys tem . The rel a tors all eged that
Accudyne knowingly presented false pricing infor-
mation and made false representations, certifica-
tions, and claims regarding environmental compli-
ance required under the contract.

While the relators independently pursued the envi-
ronmental violations on behalf of the Government,
DOJ intervened in the relators’ lawsuit with respect
to other allegations that Accudyne knowingly sup-
plied nonconforming parts and failed to properly
test completed products. Most of the individual
relators were maintenance employees at Accudyne.
The relators’ share was 22 percent or $2.64 million.
The Law Office of Bradley Scott Weiss and the firm
Spiegel & McDiarmid (Washington, D.C.) repre-
sented the relators. The Government was repre-
sented by Assistant U.S. Attorney Mark A. Cameli
and Patricia L. Hanower, Rosemary A. Filou, and
Steve Y. Koh of the DOJ Civil Division.
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Harris Corp.

In April 1995, DOJ announced that Harris Corp.
agreed to pay the Government $1.5 million to set-
tle allegations it overestimated labor costs in con-
nection with Navy spare parts contracts. The set-
tlement resolves a government suit filed in 1990
alleging that Harris’ Government Systems Support
Division (GSSD), now dissolved, made false state-
ments and claims by overstating labor costs of
manufacturing spare parts for the Navy’s Hybrid
Test Sys tems and Ta i l ored Mi n i - Vast Sys tem s .
According to DOJ, GSSD submitted false TINA
certifications during the contract negotiations.

Richardson Electronics, Ltd.

In May 1995, Richardson Electronics, Ltd. agreed
to pay the Government $4.7 million to settle a
potential lawsuit under the False Claims Act. The
Illinois firm allegedly falsely stated it could manu-
facture parts for military night vision equipment
used in tanks when it lacked the expertise, and
passed off another company’s equipment as its
own in getting manufacturing approval. According
to DOJ, Richardson built and furnished 10,000
n i ght vi s i on image converter tu bes to the
Government, all of which were nonconforming
and defective. When tested upon receipt at mili-
tary depots, the equipment was discovered to be
deficient and was never installed in the tanks. The
Government was represented by John A. Kolar of
the DOJ Civil Division.

Caremark Inc.

In June 1995, DOJ announced that Caremark Inc.,
a subsidiary of Caremark International, agreed to
pay $161 million in a criminal and civil settlement
for kickbacks and fraud in its home infusion,
oncology, hemophilia, and human growth hor-
mone businesses. Caremark will plead guilty to
charges that it defrauded the Government by mak-
ing improper payments to induce doctors and
other professionals to refer patients to the compa-
ny. According to DOJ, the recovery is one of the
largest ever obtained in a health care fraud case.
Sara Strauss of the DOJ Civil Division represented
the Government in the settlement.
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On the civil side, Caremark agreed to pay approxi-
mately $81.75 million to resolve claims relating to
improper inducements for referrals, submission of
inflated bills to state Medicaid programs,and waiv-
er of copayments. Caremark has further agreed in
principle to pay about $45 million to the states for
their share of Medicaid and other health care pro-
grams. Additionally, the company will pay $3.5
million in penalties for failing to keep accurate
records at its ph a rm acies as requ i red by the
Controlled Substances Act.

Caremark also will pay $29 million in criminal
fines in con n ecti on with inform a ti ons filed in
Minnesota and Ohio, and will contribute $2 mil-
lion to the Public Health Service to be used for
HIV/AIDS treatment for young people.

According to DOJ, Caremark has sold its home
infusion business and canceled contracts with doc-
tors and other referral sources. As part of the set-
tlement, Caremark’s remaining businesses will par-
ticipate in a “corporate integrity plan” to ensure
future compliance. While the agreements resolve
Ca rem a rk’s criminal and civil liabi l i ty, t h e
Government is continuing to investigate former
officers and employees as well as doctors and oth-
ers who were paid to refer business to the company.

Harris Corp.

In June 1995, Ha rris Corp. a greed to forego as mu ch
as $1.6 mill i on in federal paym ents to settle all ega-
ti ons that it improperly obt a i n ed con f i den tial infor-
m a ti on to win a com mu n i c a ti ons sys tem con tract
f rom the Federal Emer gency Ma n a gem ent Agen c y.
According to DO J, Ha rris em p l oyees received infor-
m a ti on from a FEMA em p l oyee rel a ting to the
a gen c y ’s cri teria for eva lu a ting bi d s . This inform a ti on
a ll egedly gave Ha rris a com peti tive adva n t a ge in
s ec u ring the con tract . The set t l em ent re s o lves the
com p a ny ’s po ten tial liabi l i ty under the False Cl a i m s
Act . Ha rris wi ll release its ri ght to receive $613,000
c u rren t ly du e , and an ad d i ti onal amount that co u l d
be as mu ch as $1 mill i on that would have becom e
du e ,u n der the FEMA con tract . The Govern m ent was
repre s en ted by Steve Y. Koh of the DOJ Civil Divi s i on .



Previous Pu bl i c a ti ons Ava i l a bl e

• Copies of TA F ’s April 1995 Quarterly Revi ew
a n d 1994 Year in Revi ew a re sti ll ava i l a ble at no

co s t . Requests can be made by ph one or mail.

TAF on the Internet

• TAF has initiated an on-line service on the
Global Internet designed to educate the pub-
lic and legal community about qui tam. The
Internet presence features information about
the organization, frequently asked questions
about qui tam, statistics,and an on-line ver-
sion of the law. Look for an expanded pres-
ence in the coming months, including TAF
publications. TAF’s site is located at WWW:
http://www.taf.org/taf or via e-mail at taf-

info@taf.org.

Library Resources 

• TAF has ava i l a ble in its libra ry a va ri ety of
re s o u rces on the False Claims Act and q u i
t a m. The libra ry is open to the public du ri n g
regular business hours . Please call in adva n ce
to sch edule an appoi n tm en t . Su bm i s s i on of
c a s e - rel a ted materials su ch as complaints and

s et t l em ent agreem ents is wel com e .

Qui Tam Attorney Network

• In conjunction with its library project, TAF
is working to build and facilitate an informa-
tion network for qui tam attorneys. For fur-
ther details, please contact TAF Staff
Attorney Gary W. Thompson.

Quarterly Review Submissions

• TAF would like to include submissions by
readers in future issues of the Quarterly
Review (e.g., opinion pieces, legal analysis,
practice tips). If you would like to discuss a
potential article, please contact Associate
Director Alan Shusterman.

Health Ca re An ti - Fraud Proj ec t
An n o u n ced

• In May the Clinton Administration
announced “Operation Restore Trust,” a five
state anti-fraud project targeting abuses
associated with home health agencies, nurs-
ing homes,and durable medical equipment
suppliers. The project states — New York,
Florida, Illinois, Texas, and California —
account for nearly 40 percent of all Medicare
and Medicaid beneficiaries. The initiative
will include financial audits, criminal investi-
gations and referrals, civil and administrative
sanction and recovery actions, surveys and
inspections of long-term care facilities, a vol-
untary disclosure program, special fraud
alerts, and a fraud hotline.

Al ong with DO J, the HHS Office of In s pector
G en era l , H C FA , and the Ad m i n i s tra ti on on
Aging wi ll be invo lved in the ef fort . An inter-
d i s c i p l i n a ry team wi ll be com po s ed of federa l
and state pers on n el as well as priva te sector
repre s en t a tive s . Mon ey gen era ted from anti -
f raud activi ties wi ll be placed into a He a l t h
Ca re Fraud Con trol Rei nve s tm ent Fund to
su pport furt h er en forcem en t .

HHS Voluntary Disclosure
Guidelines Issued

• Inspector General June Gibbs Brown has
established guidelines for HHS’ 2-year pilot
voluntary disclosure program, to be
launched as part of “Operation Restore
Trust.” Under the five state voluntary plan,
companies can come forward with evidence
of fraud or problems within their organiza-
tions in consideration for possible reduced
penalties. In June the program was report-
edly expanded to cover hospice care facilities
as well as corporate providers in the home
health, nursing home, and durable medical
equipment industries. The voluntary disclo-
sure guidelines cover: (1) eligibility and cri-
teria for admission; (2) application and
acceptance into the program; (3) the compa-
ny’s internal investigation and government
verification; and (4) OIG administrative
remedies and the company’s integrity com-
pliance program.


